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          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The Committee on

          3  Health is now in session. Good morning, and welcome

          4  to today's oversight hearing on the Department of

          5  Health follow-up procedures regarding health

          6  violations issued to school cafeterias within the

          7  Board of Education. I am Council Member Victor

          8  Robles, I am the Chair of this Committee. And let me

          9  just add, when my colleagues join me I will

         10  introduce them. There are numerous hearings going on

         11  so you will find them in and out and for that reason

         12  you will see they will come and they will leave.

         13                 Recently a newspaper article, and I

         14  must admit, it is not only the article by the New

         15  York Post, it was in the Daily News, it was also in

         16  Newsweek, and I also have to say that I recall a few

         17  months ago where New York 1 also reported and

         18  exposed this issue that is before us.

         19                 This hearing is based upon not only

         20  those reports but particularly the report of the New

         21  York Post that was an in-depth report of which they

         22  also sited numerous schools, and I want to commend

         23  them for that report, and I encourage that kind of

         24  reporting because it helps this Committee to keep

         25  track of those agencies that we are responsible to
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          2  have oversight over them. And so because of those

          3  recent article reports, disturbing news that school

          4  cafeterias were infested with mice, insects and

          5  roaches, the article reported that the Department of

          6  Health issued violations to one-third of the City's

          7  school cafeterias. These violations, if given to

          8  restaurants, would have resulted in fines or even

          9  closure of the establishments, and I will be asking

         10  the Commissioner how he operates or how does he hold

         11  the private sector, i.e., the private schools

         12  accountable in the same way that he will explain how

         13  he deals with the Board of Education and for that

         14  matter, any other agency of government who may not

         15  be a Mayoral agency, but still the law prevails and

         16  governs.

         17                 Today the Committee will review

         18  measures used by the Department of Health to ensure

         19  that the Board of Education corrects the violations

         20  issued to school cafeterias.

         21                 There is an urgent need to resolve

         22  any pest infestation problems in school cafeterias -

         23  rodents, insects and other pests can carry disease

         24  that can be transmitted to humans and their presence

         25  can also worsen allergies and asthmatic conditions
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          2  in children.

          3                 Let me point out that this Committee

          4  and this Council, under the leadership of Speaker

          5  Vallone, as you know, working with Commissioner Neal

          6  Cohen and this agency, we began to and we have

          7  started an asthma initiative, because we have found

          8  that one of the areas that does impact the school

          9  system is the number of children with asthmatic

         10  conditions and if what the reporting of the papers

         11  report are not corrected, then one thing I have

         12  learned in the I think it is two years that we have

         13  had our asthma initiative ongoing, Mr. Commissioner,

         14  is that that lends to the child or the students of

         15  which many of them are absent from classroom

         16  instruction because of their health conditions.

         17                 So, I want to be clear what this

         18  Committee is focusing on, and although I see that

         19  the Board of Education and the Deputy Chancellor for

         20  Operations is in the audience, Chancellor Spence,

         21  Harry Spence, I want to be clear that the Committee

         22  on Health is focusing on the health issue and the

         23  health code, and what the Department of Health and

         24  its commissioner, which is the chief health officer

         25  of the City, under our Charter, what steps he is
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          2  taking to rectify if these allegations that were

          3  reported are founded and what steps did he take to

          4  correct those violations.

          5                 With us is the Commissioner of the

          6  Department of Health, Dr. Neal Cohen.

          7                 Commissioner, it is always good to

          8  see you. Would you please identify yourself for the

          9  record and also those with you. Do you have a

         10  prepared text, sir? There is a prepared text, okay.

         11                 DR. COHEN: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Why don't you

         13  just identify yourself for the record and those with

         14  you and then begin.

         15                 DR. COHEN: Thank you.

         16                 Good morning, Chairman Robles. I am

         17  Neal Cohen, I am Commissioner of the Department of

         18  Health. To my right is Michelle Robinson, the Deputy

         19  Director of the Bureau of Inspections, and I am

         20  pleased to be here to discuss an issue of great

         21  importance to the safety of our children in the

         22  school environment.

         23                 Assuring the safety of the food

         24  served in New York City schools is certainly the

         25  highest priority to all of us. Even though the Board
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          2  of Education has a special unit to inspect and

          3  monitor food safety in its food service programs,

          4  beginning in September 1996, the Department of

          5  Health has included school cafeterias in its food

          6  service establishment inspection program.

          7                 The Department of Health inspection

          8  process for school food service programs is exactly

          9  the same as that for restaurants and other food

         10  service establishments, and is based on extremely

         11  rigorous standards.

         12                 These inspections involve full

         13  reviews of the food establishments, practices and

         14  facilities and their impact on food safety.

         15                 This includes assessment of food

         16  workers and their hygienic practices, food storage,

         17  food preparation processes, equipment and facility

         18  issues, cleaning and sanitizing, water sources,

         19  sewage disposal and vermin control.

         20                 The Department of Health inspections

         21  are based on the HACCP, Hazard Analysis Critical

         22  Control Point, the standard which is incorporated in

         23  the federal Food and Drug Administration's model

         24  food safety code. The HACCP approach examines an

         25  operation as a total process by identifying critical
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          2  control points in an attempt to prevent food safety

          3  hazards.

          4                 School cafeterias are scheduled to be

          5  inspected at least once during each school year.

          6  Cafeterias found to meet a threshold of violations,

          7  and that would be four critical violations and/or

          8  five or more general violations are scheduled for an

          9  additional inspection in 15 days of the first

         10  inspection.

         11                 It is important to recognize that

         12  this is a complex process and that all violations

         13  are not equal. The standard applied by the City

         14  Department of Health is extremely high and it is

         15  very difficult to get a perfect score. In fact, it

         16  is relatively uncommon for food service

         17  establishments to go through an inspection without

         18  being cited for some violations.

         19                 Our inspectors check for more than

         20  100 different conditions, ranging from the wearing

         21  of hair nets and general cleanliness issues, to

         22  meeting cooking temperature requirements and the

         23  proper storage of food.

         24                 There are also many variations of

         25  conditions reflected in a given violation that may
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          2  determine the potential degree of risk to food

          3  safety.

          4                 Violations that are most likely to

          5  cause food-borne illness are termed public health

          6  hazards. These must be corrected at the time of the

          7  inspection. Even though the violations are corrected

          8  immediately, these corrected violations are noted on

          9  the inspection report. Each inspection is included

         10  with a conference with a supervisor of the food

         11  service operation in which the reasons for the

         12  violations and the methods to prevent future

         13  occurrences are discussed.

         14                 The inspection report is given to the

         15  supervisor of the food service program in each

         16  school who forwards a copy to the Board of

         17  Education's Office of School Food and Nutrition

         18  Services and its Division of School Facilities.

         19                 The Department of Health supervisors

         20  at the Bureau of Inspections then review each

         21  inspection report. Any serious problems or concerns

         22  are immediately brought to the attention of the

         23  Board of Ed's Office of School Food and Nutrition

         24  Services and plans for compliance are established.

         25                 While the inspection process itself
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          2  and the food safety standards upon which it is based

          3  are the same for all food service establishments,

          4  the enforcement process is somewhat different.

          5                 The School Food Service Programs.

          6  Under a longstanding City policy, which predates

          7  this Administration, City agencies are not fined for

          8  these violations. We do not issue summonses and

          9  impose fines on schools for food service violations.

         10  We do grade them in exactly the same fashion that we

         11  grade the restaurants, but unlike the case with

         12  commercial restaurants where an owner's profits are

         13  affected, monetary penalties assessed on schools

         14  would, in our view, simply move tax money away from

         15  one agency to another and might potentially reduce

         16  the educational resources available for children.

         17                 However, we certainly have the

         18  ability and the authority to close a cafeteria or

         19  order food inspections to cease immediately just as

         20  for restaurants, and we would not hesitate to do so,

         21  if this were warranted.

         22                 Our experience with this program has

         23  shown school food service supervisors and workers to

         24  be very responsive to Department of Health

         25  inspectors. Failure to correct serious violations
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          2  immediately or to cooperate with inspection efforts

          3  would result in an immediate call from the

          4  Department of Health to the Director of the Board of

          5  Education's Office of Food Technology and Quality

          6  Assurance. The frequent and continuous discussions

          7  we have with that office provide an added level of

          8  monitoring and follow-up that we do not have with

          9  the private restaurant industry.

         10                 Now, the Department of Health

         11  annually inspects 1,105 school cafeterias which are

         12  serving about 800,000 meals a day, an average of

         13  about 630 -- excuse me -- 830 violations per year

         14  have been issued over the past three years. That

         15  breaks down to 865 in 1997, 916 in 1998 and 712 in

         16  1999. So, as you can see, there has been a

         17  significant reduction in violations from this past

         18  year to this current year.

         19                 The number of schools that have

         20  received one or more violations in the critical

         21  category have declined since 1997. In 1997, 635

         22  school food service programs received critical

         23  violations, averaging less than two each.

         24                 In 1998, there were 628 who received

         25  violations, and in 1999, 525 school cafeterias
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          2  received critical violations.

          3                 However, only a very small number of

          4  New York City school cafeterias received violations

          5  meeting the threshold that would require a

          6  compliance inspection, and that was 14 in 1998 and

          7  seven in 1999.

          8                 Compliance inspections found that all

          9  these had corrected their problems in 1999, except

         10  for one, the exception requiring a structural change

         11  needing to put in place a sink that will require

         12  more time. None of these school programs had

         13  violations sufficient to require compliance

         14  inspections more than once during the past year --

         15  during the past three years.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner,

         17  excuse me. I don't normally do this, but I just want

         18  to make sure I say, since you went out of your way

         19  to point out how the numbers are being reduced,

         20  however, I want to make sure I understand what you

         21  are saying.

         22                 You are saying that a small number of

         23  City school cafeterias receive violations meeting

         24  the threshold that require compliance inspection,

         25  and you mentioned five in '97, 14 in '98 and seven
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          2  in '99.

          3                 However, while the number appears

          4  from '98 to be reduced greatly, if you look at '97

          5  and '99 there is an increase, correct?

          6                 DR. COHEN: Correct, from five to

          7  seven.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          9                 And second, let me make sure I

         10  understand when you say about an additional sink;

         11  what is the normal timetable? I mean, a sink is

         12  something that is important. I want to get an idea,

         13  because what I think I need to do is, my problem

         14  with the Board of Education and another Committee of

         15  the Council is that since they are so wrapped up on

         16  the instructional side, whether they have the means

         17  for teachers' salaries, buildings, what have you, I

         18  am telling you that the burden on health issues

         19  rests in this Committee, and while I have no real

         20  oversight jurisdiction over the Board of Education,

         21  I do have, and you are a mayoral agency, a direct

         22  oversight with you as Commissioner.

         23                 So, as you discuss this issue, I want

         24  to deal with the health violations and the burden of

         25  correction is on you as the Commissioner to get the
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          2  Board of Education to correct the violation; is that

          3  fair to say? Okay, I just want to make sure we keep

          4  the trust.

          5                 I am sorry, go ahead, Commissioner.

          6                 DR. COHEN: Finally, an additional and

          7  important measure of the safety of the food served

          8  in the City schools is the Department of Health's

          9  system of monitoring for food-borne illnesses.

         10                 The Department of Health Bureau of

         11  Environmental Investigation, which investigates

         12  reports of possible foodborne illnesses have found

         13  no evidence to suggest that any incidents have been

         14  associated with food served at schools during this

         15  period.

         16                 We believe the basic inspection

         17  program we now have in place is a good one, but we

         18  are always looking for ways to improve and

         19  strengthen it, and we look forward to working with

         20  the Council to be sure that potential risks to food

         21  safety are addressed in the most effective way, and

         22  that there is sufficient accountability by the Board

         23  of Education to assure that violations are addressed

         24  in a timely manner.

         25                 I would be happy to answer your
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          2  questions.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,

          4  Commissioner.

          5                 Let me begin by saying that I commend

          6  you for your aggressive inspection of schools and

          7  cafeterias, I don't want to have this hearing think

          8  that I am negative on the Department of Health of

          9  not doing their job, but I am a believer, and one

         10  thing that I do support this Administration on is

         11  its quality of life thrust. And since they focus on

         12  crime, I do believe that this quality of life

         13  focusing on minor crimes helped reduce the crime in

         14  the City so that if you don't have major crimes,

         15  because you deal with minor crimes, the hope is that

         16  it won't get to the serious.

         17                 So, in that respect, this hearing is

         18  to not only deal with the major violations, but work

         19  with you so that even the minor -- you know, I am a

         20  believer that when the cat is away, the mice must

         21  play, and I am a believer that if you have a minor

         22  violation and you ignore it and get away with it,

         23  that can convert into, somewhere down the road into

         24  a major or a serious violation, so I again want to

         25  set the tone.
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          2                 I see that my two colleagues, first

          3  my colleague from Queens, Council Member Morty

          4  Povman from Queens and Council Member Phil Reed from

          5  Manhattan and the Bronx.

          6                 Commissioner, let me again begin, you

          7  gave me a list, which I just received it from my

          8  colleagues. I believe we made some copies, I will

          9  make sure that every member gets a copy.

         10                 One of the things that I have asked

         11  the Commissioner, it is my understanding, and

         12  correct me if I am wrong, Commissioner, you began

         13  your inspection or your aggressive inspection

         14  program I believe in at least '96, so you have given

         15  me '96, '97, '98, which is the current reporting

         16  which goes into '99 which really has not ended yet,

         17  is that fair?

         18                 DR. COHEN: Actually I have given you

         19  '97, '98 and '99, because we have completed the

         20  inspection of all of the schools in this calendar

         21  year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, let me begin

         23  then. On page three where you had 865 violations in

         24  '97, in '98 was 916, and in '99 there is 712 and it

         25  appears there is a reduction. Let me make sure that
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          2  I know the mechanism.

          3                 In your reporting, do you separate

          4  between the serious violation and the minor

          5  violation?

          6                 DR. COHEN: Yes, we have a category

          7  that we call critical items, and then we have a

          8  category of general items and we do deem that the

          9  critical are more serious and have more potential to

         10  impact on the health of citizens and children. Then

         11  we have, you know, those that require immediate --

         12  they have to be addressed immediately at the time of

         13  the inspection, and there are a subset of critical

         14  items.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, not being

         16  a professional -- and, I am sorry, we have been

         17  joined also by a member of the Committee, Council

         18  Member Pedro Espada from the Bronx.

         19                 Help us, who may not be as

         20  professional in the health area as you are, sir, but

         21  simple lay people from our respective districts,

         22  walk us through with the critical ones and define

         23  for us what are some of those critical violations,

         24  and separate for me in the critical what is the

         25  critical, what is also what is this immediate
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          2  violations that you must immediately correct so that

          3  we have an idea of what these happen to be? Do you

          4  have a listing by any chance? Can you provide this

          5  Committee with it?

          6                 DR. COHEN: Yes, we can. Of course.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good. Would you

          8  do that?

          9                 DR. COHEN: Sure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And also, would

         11  you now walk us through on those critical, and the

         12  ones that you point out in saying that although a

         13  small amount but in '97 there was five, in '98 there

         14  was 14, in '99 seven. So, start with those, what was

         15  those critical? And of those numbers, any of them

         16  were the ones that you directed the Board of

         17  Education to immediately correct?

         18                 Do you want to identify yourself for

         19  the record, please.

         20                 MS. ROBINSON: Sure. My name is

         21  Michelle Robinson. I am Deputy Director for the

         22  Bureau of Inspections within the Department of

         23  Health.

         24                 I wanted to basically show you that

         25  the inspection form that we use for our inspection
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          2  is very detailed, and if we actually went over every

          3  violation you might not get to the rest of your

          4  questions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, do us a

          6  favor. Would you provide this Committee with that

          7  copy? We will make sure that every member gets it,

          8  and likely, I am sure we would love to read it.

          9                 Stay there. Sergeant-At-Arms. We

         10  would love to read it to know when we discuss future

         11  hearings on violations whether it would be the Board

         12  of Ed or restaurants, at least we are educated on

         13  what those violations are.

         14                 MS. ROBINSON: What I will do is

         15  actually go over some of the violations to help

         16  explain to you what they mean, and I will start off

         17  first with what we call potentially I mean a public

         18  health hazard, and these are violations that we say

         19  must be corrected on the spot. The reason why we say

         20  that is because when food is not properly cooked, or

         21  food is found at a temperature, or food has been

         22  contaminated by filth or so on, that these are

         23  violations that would actually make people sick.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And would you do

         25  me a favor? Can we start with '99? I am assuming in
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          2  that category the seven, we might find one within

          3  that seven; is that fair to say?

          4                 MS. ROBINSON: I am not understanding

          5  your question.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The Commissioner

          7  in his testimony said that there is a small number

          8  that compliance inspection, I guess you must

          9  reinspect.

         10                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And you said that

         12  in '99 there were seven of them. Are any of those

         13  seven the ones you were about to walk me through in

         14  terms of immediate correction?

         15                 MS. ROBINSON: No, I don't have that

         16  information before me.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Then you

         18  tell me what you are going to tell me.

         19                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes. One of the things,

         20  let me just walk you through one on the form, and

         21  that would be number 2A.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am sorry, say

         23  that again?

         24                 MS. ROBINSON: 2A. It is on the back

         25  of the inspection form.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Oh, I see. We

          3  don't have the form yet. Go ahead.

          4                 MS. ROBINSON: It is 2A, and it says

          5  food not cooked to require temperature. As you

          6  already know, I think this is common for most

          7  people, that poultry, for instance, if it is not

          8  cooked properly, will cause Saminella poisoning, and

          9  these are violations that need to be corrected right

         10  on the spot.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Immediately,

         12  right.

         13                 MS. ROBINSON: A type of critical

         14  violation that can't be corrected on the spot is

         15  something like live vermin, for instance, that takes

         16  a little more control, but it is still something

         17  that we expect to get compliance with within 15

         18  days.

         19                 General items, on the other hand, are

         20  violations that basically are a potential for

         21  something to happen. They are not quite critical.

         22  Critical violations basically mean that something is

         23  actively happening, whereas for a general violation

         24  it is the potential that something may occur. And

         25  with our program basically, in order to get a
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          2  follow-up inspection, you basically would have to

          3  receive four criticals or five or more general

          4  items.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If I may?

          6                 MS. ROBINSON: Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Because I know

          8  some of my colleagues, but they will all get it, so

          9  that again I have an understanding.

         10                 And let me say we have also been

         11  joined by Council Member Jose Rivera from the Bronx.

         12                 Let me perhaps get to the

         13  nitty-gritty so I understand it. In the list you

         14  gave me for '99, I notice there is a school in my

         15  district that has been cited seven times of which

         16  four are classified critical and two general, and

         17  that is public school 18. And since I am the

         18  Chairman of the Committee and I don't want to

         19  embarrass anybody else, let me use my school.

         20                 In those four critical, what was

         21  those four criticals so I have an understanding?

         22                 And what I would like to also know,

         23  Commissioner, is the following: You spelled out the

         24  steps of who to notify, and I guess you cannot

         25  answer that when the Board of Ed -- I will ask of
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          2  the Board of Ed -- but for example, in the newspaper

          3  articles, the school that was cited in my district

          4  was Public School 157, not Public School 18. So, I

          5  was expecting to see Public School 157 on this list,

          6  and I don't even see it either in '99 or in '98,

          7  which I was led to believe that the articles of the

          8  Post referred to '98, '99, but I do not see 157

          9  within that school district 14 listed, although it

         10  was listed in the newspaper, now I see a school

         11  unbeknownst to me that is still in my district,

         12  which is PS 18.

         13                 Walk me through in those four

         14  critical citations in '99 for Public School 18 so I

         15  have an idea of what those critical violations were.

         16                 MS. ROBINSON: Okay. For Public School

         17  18 I don't have the report, but I do have

         18  information on Public School 157, if that would --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, how come on

         20  this handout sheet that the Commissioner gave me I

         21  don't see it?

         22                 How many citations did they have,

         23  157?

         24                 DR. COHEN: 157, although it was

         25  reported in the newspaper account that you referred
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          2  to, did not meet the threshold with four or more

          3  critical violations, so it had fewer, so it did not

          4  require a compliance inspection. And those

          5  particular violations were addressed in a timely

          6  way.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Let me ask

          8  you then, find me one of the schools that was listed

          9  for 1999 that has four or higher and I see there is

         10  two with five criticals, and again, I just want to

         11  have an understanding of what those critical

         12  citations happen to be.

         13                 So, for example, you said that when

         14  it comes to rodents and that kind of area, you serve

         15  notice that that has to be rectified by 15 days.

         16                 Again, I am trying to get a handle on

         17  the process of the Department of Health of making

         18  sure that the Board of Education complies with in

         19  the correction of the violations. And like I am

         20  trying to stick to the serious violations and the

         21  critical ones of which you mentioned within the

         22  critical there is two categories. One is immediate

         23  correction and two is critical but might fall into

         24  the 15-day category, which I am reminded of

         25  restaurants, that sometimes you give them eight days
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          2  to ten days to 15 days to get the violation

          3  corrected.

          4                 MS. ROBINSON: For the specific school

          5  that you asked for, I don't have that inspection

          6  report in front of me.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

          8  that. Get me a school that you can give me an

          9  answer.

         10                 MS. ROBINSON: I am going to pick a

         11  school and give you an answer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         13                 MS. ROBINSON: This was an inspection

         14  that was conducted on October 4th, and one of the

         15  violations that needed to be corrected on the spot

         16  was there was cold milk that was held at a

         17  temperature, the temperature of the milk was 56

         18  degrees.

         19                 Another violation was there were

         20  dented cans of fruit.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: There were what?

         22                 MS. ROBINSON: Dented cans of fruit,

         23  and that violation had to be corrected on the spot.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: With respect to

         25  1999 of the schools that I see listed, and there are
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          2  two, four, six, seven schools cited in '99, any of

          3  those schools had to correct within the 15 days

          4  violations that dealt with either roaches, rodents,

          5  you name it?

          6                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good. Now find me

          8  a school so I have an idea.

          9                 I mean, I have Council members here

         10  who they may not be aware because I had my Counsel

         11  write who the Council people are. So, I picked

         12  Victor Robles so as not to embarrass anybody. I want

         13  to again deal with the issue.

         14                 Let's go to the critical, not

         15  immediate, but 15 days because the article talked

         16  about roaches, rodents, those kind of things for us

         17  are important. If festered, it creates not only a

         18  health problem, but I go back to in schools like

         19  North Brooklyn, like Central Harlem, like the South

         20  Bronx, we have a serious asthma problem, which these

         21  kind of things, if not corrected, can lend to the

         22  health condition of children not going to school.

         23  That is not an educational problem, it is an

         24  educational problem because if they don't go to

         25  school, they don't get paid. Then we will read about
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          2  our kids not learning and they are flunking.

          3                 So, let's deal with the serious

          4  issues and in those schools you mentioned, tell me

          5  which schools fell under the category that they had

          6  to correct those within 15 days?

          7                 MS. ROBINSON: I am looking at an

          8  inspection that was conducted on 11/4/99, and one of

          9  the violations read there were eight to ten live

         10  roaches observed crawling behind --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What?

         12                 MS. ROBINSON: Roaches.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         14                 MS. ROBINSON: Live roaches crawling

         15  behind three lunchroom milk crates, and one in a

         16  reaching refrigerator.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You know, I hate

         18  to do this, but since the Deputy Chancellor is here,

         19  so when I get him up here I can deal directly with

         20  him on these issues, but I need to know how the

         21  Department of Health, Commissioner Neal Cohen,

         22  follows through?

         23                 There is a difference. You see, I am

         24  not even touching on the general. I am trying to

         25  understand the numbers you gave me on the critical
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          2  side, and clearly you defined for me two areas which

          3  is important to me.

          4                 I am not being critical, I am not

          5  saying you are doing anything wrong, but I need to

          6  be educated. You said on the critical side those are

          7  serious violations, and some of them you direct

          8  immediate action. So, you explain to me that if the

          9  food is not being cooked properly, the milk is not

         10  being frozen properly, or chilled properly, it will

         11  cause an immediate health risk. I understand that. I

         12  didn't ask you for that.

         13                 Now, you said that on the rodent, you

         14  know, side, which might take to bring an

         15  exterminator, you don't do that. You rely on the

         16  Board of Education to do that, and I am still

         17  sticking to you before I get to the Board of Ed.

         18                 Tell me which schools in 1999 -- this

         19  is not '97 now, folks. And you know this hearing was

         20  coming, so if you didn't want to give me '97/'98,

         21  you should be ready to give me '99 because it is

         22  just this year, it hasn't ended yet. Tell me the

         23  school in the seven schools that you, and in

         24  fairness I don't want to say seven, in the schools I

         25  see, I see one, two, three, four, five schools with
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          2  four or more violations. One, two, three schools has

          3  four, critical, and one, two has five critical. Of

          4  the five critical, in Manhattan, are any of these

          5  five for rodents?

          6                 MS. ROBINSON: I don't have that

          7  information here.

          8                 DR. COHEN: There is no question. When

          9  we look at the frequency of the violations,

         10  approximately half of the criticals will address

         11  some evidences or roach or mouse dropping. So, there

         12  is no question that in this seven there were some

         13  that had evidence of infestation.

         14                 I should point out that even where we

         15  find dead roaches, because there had been an

         16  extermination program, that still remains a

         17  violation because we don't want to see evidence even

         18  of infestation that has been corrected that has not

         19  been properly cleaned and could potentially impact

         20  on the health of children.

         21                 So, in some instances we are talking

         22  about the evidence of a dead cockroach, in some

         23  instances we are talking about vermin that are not

         24  in the food preparation area, but are in other areas

         25  of the cafeteria that we nevertheless fight as a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  violation, and in some instances we are talking

          3  about schools that previously have responded to

          4  citations of violation of the Health Department

          5  inspectors and have carried out corrective action,

          6  but nevertheless upon returning, there is evidence

          7  that hasn't been properly cleaned and removed from

          8  the cafeteria area.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay,

         10  Commissioner, let me do something --

         11                 DR. COHEN: I am just trying to put

         12  this objectively in context of why these violations

         13  appear sometimes to be even more frequent at a time

         14  when schools have begun to address the problem.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, we

         16  are law-makers, not law breakers. And there is a law

         17  called the City Health Code. My job and this

         18  Committee's job is to make sure that code is

         19  properly being enforced.

         20                 So, let me then try to get this

         21  question answered in a different way.

         22                 In the meantime, we have been joined

         23  by Council Member Julia Harrison, from Queens.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I apologize

         25  for being late.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand.

          3                 Let me quote for you Section 151.03

          4  of the Health Code which states that all buildings,

          5  lots, premises or commercial vehicles shall be kept

          6  free from rodents, insects and other pets, and from

          7  any condition conducive to rodent and it goes on.

          8                 The person in control shall not allow

          9  the accumulation of water, garbage or any other

         10  waste materials in any part of the building, lot

         11  premises or commercial vehicles. All garbage shall

         12  be disposed and tightly covered, watertight metal

         13  cans.

         14                 This is the Health Code. To implement

         15  the Health Code, in the absence of wording, then the

         16  agency promulgates rules; is that correct,

         17  Commissioner?

         18                 DR. COHEN: Correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, under

         20  Section 3.12 of I believe your code, New York City

         21  rules and regulations, definition, fines, penalties

         22  and forfeitures for certain violations of the code,

         23  except as provided in Subsection B herein, any

         24  person who is determined to have violated this code

         25  or any other applicable law or regulations or whom
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          2  holds or is required to hold a permit from the Board

          3  or the Commissioner or who was registered or

          4  required to be registered with the Department shall

          5  be subject to a fine, penalty and forfeiture of not

          6  less than 100 and not more than $2,000 for each

          7  violation of the provisions of this Code, or any

          8  other applicable law or regulations related to such

          9  business, trades, occupations and other activities.

         10                 Are these your regulations, sir?

         11                 DR. COHEN: Yes, they are.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Now,

         13  question: If I was a private school, if I was a

         14  private business and you gave me 15 days to correct

         15  the violation and I didn't, what would be the next

         16  thing the Department of Health would do to that

         17  private sector violator?

         18                 DR. COHEN: If you were a restaurant

         19  establishment and on reinspection you didn't correct

         20  a violation, you would be issued another violation

         21  and obviously there are penalties that accrue to

         22  these violations.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: When does the

         24  penalty enforcement of finding actual monetary fines

         25  kick in?
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          2                 DR. COHEN: The enforcement occurs --

          3  well, it depends if the restaurant is closed or not.

          4  If it is closed on the basis of a meeting a

          5  threshold of critical violations, they couldn't

          6  reopen without paying the fines required.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: When do you

          8  decide to close because of critical violations?

          9                 DR. COHEN: Well, that could be done

         10  either on the basis of what is considered to be

         11  sufficient number of critical violations that are

         12  felt to oppose the public health hazards that cannot

         13  be corrected immediately and that restaurant can be

         14  closed on the spot, or the failure to be able to

         15  pass reinspection and a compliance inspection that

         16  would then lead to closing.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Of this list that

         18  you provided this Committee and this Chair, how many

         19  of these schools, if they were restaurants or the

         20  private sector would or could probably be closed

         21  because of critical violations after they fail to

         22  correct the violations?

         23                 DR. COHEN: I am sorry, can you repeat

         24  that? I didn't follow that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Of the list of
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          2  schools that you have provided this chair and this

          3  Committee with, on the critical violations, as you

          4  defined it, if they were the private sector, how

          5  many of these schools could have been closed by your

          6  agency for failing to correct at a certain point the

          7  critical violations?

          8                 DR. COHEN: None of these schools,

          9  Councilman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         11                 And of the past ten years -- well,

         12  let me go into my colleagues since now they are here

         13  and I will come back for other questions.

         14                 DR. COHEN: What I was trying to

         15  communicate in my testimony earlier, it is our

         16  experience since September 1996 when we began this

         17  inspection program in the public school cafeteria,

         18  that the response to our citation of violations has

         19  been positive and we have had a good working

         20  relationship with the Board of Ed around these

         21  violations. And our experience has been that looking

         22  at these schools that had the most number of

         23  violations upon reinspection, those violations were

         24  addressed and in the following years' inspection,

         25  those same schools did not appear to meet the
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          2  threshold for more serious violation of Health Code.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, let me make

          4  sure I am on record, because I don't want you to

          5  leave here under the impression that I am just

          6  criticizing you.

          7                 Let me commend you for the work you

          8  are doing in your agency, and based upon what you

          9  are giving us, numbers for the first time, it leaves

         10  me no choice but to say that if these numbers are

         11  correct, then you are on top of doing what you are

         12  mandated to do, so don't get me wrong.

         13                 Let me tell you where I have a

         14  dilemma and a problem. I asked in 1999, which is

         15  this year, how many of these schools will fall in

         16  the category where additional follow-up had to take

         17  place within 15 days because of either rats,

         18  roaches, you name it? And I think you told me three,

         19  if I am correct. Is that what you told me?

         20                 DR. COHEN: I don't have the precise

         21  critical violations, but my assumption is that at

         22  least half of these seven schools would meet that

         23  category.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fine. But then I

         25  need to know of the half, if the seven of those

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  half, how many after the 15 days, which is what you

          3  would normally do for a private sector, and if you

          4  don't do it at 15 days, I know you take action

          5  against correcting it. But you are not going to wait

          6  upon them after 15 days, so you then either find

          7  them, and I must say maybe you will bring them into

          8  a hearing, okay? But the fact is you take action

          9  after 15 days.

         10                 DR. COHEN: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: My dilemma is not

         12  criticizing what you are doing. My dilemma is, I go

         13  back to my original opening remarks, I am a believer

         14  in quality of life issues, I believe that if you

         15  catch it early and you deal with it and you send a

         16  clear message we are not tolerating it, then

         17  everybody knows that there are eyes all over the

         18  place watching them.

         19                 But when you ignore, and if you got

         20  whatever number it is, half, of a serious critical

         21  violation where you need or they need to step in and

         22  do something, and you can't tell me what yet has

         23  happened after 15 days, then I have a problem.

         24                 DR. COHEN: Oh, I can tell you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Then tell me,
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          2  sir. Because there is my problem.

          3                 DR. COHEN: No, in every single

          4  instance of these seven schools that met that

          5  threshold to require a reinspection within 15 days,

          6  those critical violations were addressed.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

          8  Reed.

          9                 DR. COHEN: Except for one where there

         10  was a sink, a structural, and that is taking more

         11  time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Excuse me,

         13  Councilman Reed, now I am back to my street talk.

         14                 That school, and that sink, first of

         15  all, the sink is important, is that fair to say,

         16  Commissioner, based upon the Health Code?

         17                 DR. COHEN: Yes.

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: It may take a few more

         19  days to install the sink, the 15 days are not up.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, what was the

         21  last inspection?

         22                 MS. ROBINSON: The last inspection

         23  date was November 5th.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The last

         25  inspection. The first inspection, which you cited
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          2  them because they lacked the sink.

          3                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And it will take

          5  time, I understand that. When was that first cited?

          6                 MS. ROBINSON I believe October 4th.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Of this year?

          8                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         10                 And so now your second inspection was

         11  November?

         12                 MS. ROBINSON: Fifth.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fifth. Now, on

         14  November 5th they have not corrected that yet. That

         15  was at least a month difference?

         16                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes. And immediately

         17  after we found out the sink was not corrected, like

         18  he stated in his testimony, we did call the Board of

         19  Education. As a matter of fact, we have been in

         20  contact with them constantly concerning the sink and

         21  we hope to see some compliance.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: My question is, a

         23  month has come and gone, they are in violation. I

         24  understand giving them enough time, okay? I know how

         25  long it takes, but when it comes to priorities
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          2  within the Board of Education, maybe that sink may

          3  not in their priorities be a priority. In my

          4  priority it is, because it is in violation of the

          5  Health Code. When do you say to them enough is

          6  enough?

          7                 How long are you going to wait before

          8  they correct the sink?

          9                 And I really need to hear from the

         10  Commissioner on that one.

         11                 DR. COHEN: Well, what we do with a

         12  restaurant, as I said in my testimony we apply the

         13  very same standards to the school cafeterias that we

         14  do to the private sector, so nobody is getting a

         15  break here when it comes to public health.

         16                 What we would do in the restaurant is

         17  have repeated visits and as we do repeated visits we

         18  also do inspections. We don't go myopically in a

         19  nearsighted way to look at one violation that we are

         20  returning for. So, if we find evidence that the

         21  failure to correct a particular violation is

         22  impacting on the food safety in that establishment

         23  we will cite them and give them additional

         24  violations and if they meet the threshold, they

         25  would be closed.
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          2                 So, in this case, in this school we

          3  followed the very same practice that we would in the

          4  private sector and determine whether the failure to

          5  have that sink on line is actually creating a

          6  significant health impact.

          7                 Yes, it is of concern, it is part of

          8  our Health Code, and we are monitoring it very, very

          9  closely and we anticipate that that will be

         10  corrected shortly. But it was something that wasn't

         11  done within the preferred 15-day period.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Give me that

         13  school again.

         14                 DR. COHEN: It is in the Bronx. It is

         15  Middle School 115.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         17                 Now, before I call Council Member

         18  Reed, because at least I am getting some answers

         19  that for the moment I am willing to accept; in 1998,

         20  you have one, two, three, four, five, six, seven,

         21  eight, nine, ten, 11, 12, 13, 14 schools, 15

         22  schools. No, I am sorry, 14 schools. In those 14

         23  schools, on the critical side, have all of those

         24  violations been corrected?

         25                 DR. COHEN: Yes, they have.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So there is no

          3  outstanding critical violations?

          4                 DR. COHEN: No, we are not aware of

          5  any.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Can there be any

          7  general violations still outstanding?

          8                 DR. COHEN: There could be.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And in 1997, I

         10  have one, two, three, four, five schools, of which

         11  all, with the exception of one had five, the rest

         12  had four, are all of those critical violations

         13  corrected, as of this moment?

         14                 DR. COHEN: To our knowledge they are.

         15  Based on the fact that they have been reinspected

         16  this year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

         18                 Council Member Reed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Good morning. I

         20  may have had some clarity in this last round of

         21  questions, but I was confused by your testimony or

         22  the answers to your questions with regard to, and a

         23  little bit dismayed, frankly. We have seven at the

         24  top of the list here, and I am trying to understand,

         25  when were these schools, if and when were these

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  schools reinspected? And are they all off the list?

          3                 There seemed to be a whole lot of we

          4  don't have that and so --

          5                 DR. COHEN: Yes, they are.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: They are all off

          7  the list?

          8                 DR. COHEN: Except for the one school

          9  that we discussed, Middle School 115, which we still

         10  are looking at the correction of the sink that needs

         11  to be in the food preparation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Do you know when

         13  all of those reinspections were done?

         14                 DR. COHEN: I don't have the dates

         15  immediately in front of me but I could provide that

         16  for you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Recently?

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: Recently, I know one

         19  was November, during the week of November 12th, two

         20  of the schools were actually reinspected from that

         21  list.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So you know for

         23  a fact, with the exception of PS 115, all of these

         24  violations have been resolved?

         25                 DR. COHEN: Correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That is a pretty

          3  simple answer, we could have had that ten minutes

          4  ago.

          5                 Who in the school is responsible for

          6  the hygiene in the kitchen and in the general area

          7  where the food is?

          8                 MS. ROBINSON: We call that person a

          9  food supervisor. It is the person that is required

         10  to take the Department's Food Protection course and

         11  obtain a Food Protection certificate, and in order

         12  to hold such a certificate, you must be the

         13  supervisor of the food operation and you must be on

         14  premises at all times.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So that is an

         16  employee of the Department of the Board of

         17  Education?

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: The Board of Education,

         19  yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But you give

         21  them the certificate?

         22                 MS ROBINSON: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And how often do

         24  they have to be recertified?

         25                 MS. ROBINSON: There is basically no
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          2  recertification.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, in an event

          4  where there would be these kind of violations, and I

          5  am pleased to note, as I said the chair did, at

          6  least according to the list, a brief version review

          7  of it, you don't have repeats of '97/'98, but if you

          8  see you have these kind of violators, that wouldn't

          9  prompt you to want to review the supervisors?

         10                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes, it would. It is

         11  the same standard that we actually have for

         12  restaurants. If we find restaurants --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: No, I am

         14  talking about recertifying the person responsible in

         15  the school system.

         16                 MS. ROBINSON: Exactly. If we felt

         17  that they were not looking out for the critical and

         18  public health hazard and if this school had a

         19  continual problem, we would prompt the Board of

         20  Education to resend their supervisor back to the

         21  food protection course.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So what is a

         23  repeat problem? What does that mean?

         24                 MS. ROBINSON: Repeat violation,

         25  persistent problem, every time you go food is out of
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          2  temperature, so forth.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The same

          4  problem, not just something different on the

          5  critical list or on the general list.

          6                 MS. ROBINSON: Basically the same

          7  problem that would show a lack of understanding.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I will reserve

          9  the rest of my questions because I think we are

         10  going to be hearing from the Board of Education?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, we are.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Deputy Chancellor

         15  Spence is here, I have seen an acknowledgment.

         16                 Council Member Espada.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you.

         18                 I wanted actually to go a little bit

         19  further back than what we have been, just to be able

         20  to get some clarity on the entire inspection

         21  process. How many inspectors do you have to go out

         22  to the schools?

         23                 MS. ROBINSON: Basically we have 119

         24  inspectors that work for my particular Bureau, and

         25  they not only inspect public schools, they inspect
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          2  restaurants, senior centers, prisons and so forth,

          3  windowguard inspections.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: So, none of

          5  them have a specialty of schools? They all are

          6  dealing with the same basic public restaurant code?

          7                 DR. COHEN: That's correct.

          8                 MS. ROBINSON: Right. The specialty is

          9  actually an understanding of food technology and

         10  microbiology, and that is the specialty that they

         11  actually get through college, part of the

         12  requirement is having 30 hours in biological and

         13  physical science.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Is there some

         15  type of requirement in how many times they visit a

         16  school per year or something in that regard?

         17                 MS. ROBINSON: We try to visit each

         18  school at least once annually.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: And is there

         20  an appointment made and then you go and visit the

         21  school, or is it a surprise inspection?

         22                 MS. ROBINSON: It is a surprise

         23  inspection. Doing a notification would sort of

         24  defeat the purpose.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Yes, well,
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          2  once a year is kind of tough too. That is a separate

          3  -- and what is the life of the inspector? They

          4  start going out to go inspect at 7:00, 9:00, 10:00

          5  in the morning? How long do they do this for every

          6  day? Do they have a regular 9:00 to 5:00? Is it a

          7  regular 9:00 to 5:00 job.

          8                 MS. ROBINSON: We have inspectors that

          9  work from 9:00 to 5:30, and we also have inspectors

         10  that work from 2:30 to 11:00 p.m.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: So, the

         12  inspections that are done are only done during the

         13  day?

         14                 MS. ROBINSON: And on evenings as

         15  well.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Are schools

         17  inspected on the weekends and in the evening?

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: No, schools are not

         19  inspected on the weekends and evenings.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: So, the only

         21  time that schools are inspected is when hundreds of

         22  children and teachers are there?

         23                 MS. ROBINSON: And that is exactly our

         24  point. We actually want to see the operation, we

         25  want to see the food service, we want to see what we
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          2  are doing. So, our inspections generally take place

          3  during the time that they are serving meals.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Right, but I

          5  am not an expert in mice or roaches but I have had a

          6  couple of them before in my history and I tend to

          7  say that they are a little less interested in being

          8  around when my children and my dog and myself and

          9  everyone else are trampling through my kitchen and

         10  my eating space. I really don't know the particulars

         11  of the vermin and roaches that exist in public

         12  schools as opposed to those that exist in my home,

         13  but I presume that they wouldn't want to be around

         14  100 screaming children, and that the problem may be,

         15  and as I recall seeing a couple of times that I have

         16  seen it on the news, they have had to use special

         17  lenses and stuff to be able to get the night vision

         18  going or whatever, because that is really when they

         19  have been showing the problems that the schools

         20  have, not during the day when kids are running

         21  around and everything.

         22                 How would you identify a vermin

         23  problem in the middle of the day at a public school?

         24                 MS. ROBINSON: You are quite correct.

         25  One of the things about mice and roaches is that
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          2  these are nocturnal creatures. You actually identify

          3  a problem with mice during the day basically by

          4  looking for fresh mice droppings.

          5                 We do know that if you see a mouse in

          6  the daytime, that is almost a sign that an

          7  infestation does exist. This is a mouse that can't

          8  go home to his nest, this is the mouse that can't

          9  quite get enough food to eat during the night, and

         10  the same thing basically works for cockroaches

         11  basically. They are nocturnal as well. We have a

         12  general saying, for every one live roach you see

         13  during a day, there is ten more at night.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Now, how many

         15  things, when somebody does an inspection they are

         16  looking for all of these items on this list?

         17                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: And roughly

         19  how much time do they spend with the inspection that

         20  they make at a school or any other establishment?

         21                 MS. ROBINSON: Inspections last about

         22  an hour and 20 minutes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: And what kinds

         24  of areas are they looking for in this? Are they

         25  looking in all of the corners, behind fixtures,
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          2  behind refrigerators and all of that stuff for mice

          3  droppings or whatever?

          4                 MS. ROBINSON: Exactly. Our inspection

          5  basically starts out by looking at the safety of the

          6  food, because it is the food that makes people sick,

          7  and then we look at those areas that might have a

          8  related impact on food safety, such as the storage

          9  areas behind refrigerators and so forth.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: I guess just

         11  lastly, is the reason why we don't check in the

         12  evenings at schools because they are not open? Is

         13  that the problem? Or is it that -- I mean, in

         14  addition to. I know that you would want to check the

         15  food and everything but in terms of the vermin

         16  specifically, is there a reason why we wouldn't

         17  check during the evening public schools or on

         18  weekends and things of that nature when it is less

         19  active?

         20                 DR. COHEN: I think the priority is to

         21  look at food preparation, the way foods are being

         22  stored. Very often, whether it is a restaurant or a

         23  school we are finding problems in the storage of

         24  food that is going to be served at a later date, so

         25  it is important that we actually see the facility in
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          2  operation as a priority. And that is why we make an

          3  effort to have a late shift for those food

          4  establishments in the City that only open in the

          5  evening because we don't feel there is great value

          6  in going through the kitchen facility when there are

          7  no patrons.

          8                 MS. ROBINSON: And if there is an

          9  infestation, you will see it during the day, as well

         10  as the night. Roaches do leave evidence behind that

         11  they are there.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Again, I am

         13  not an expert so I wouldn't be able to say, but it

         14  is usually in the minute corners of an eating

         15  establishment or in a home, it is not like in the

         16  middle of a living room that you see that you have a

         17  mice problem or in the middle of the cafeteria. So,

         18  generally speaking what we are looking for is the

         19  food preparation and where the food is kept and kind

         20  of as a secondary issue is whether or not there is a

         21  vermin problem, and that is why we don't look in the

         22  times when the establishment is closed; is that

         23  correct?

         24                 DR. COHEN: Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you.
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          2                 DR. COHEN: And I can tell you that

          3  based on my analysis of how our food inspection

          4  program, it is very clear that mice and roaches are

          5  not aware that inspectors are coming, there is no

          6  concerns about visiting the food preparation areas

          7  during a visit or a revisit, and we have ample

          8  evidence that they are present when they are there.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Well, if you

         10  would like, I would be more than willing to show you

         11  ample evidence if you would like to come to the

         12  South Bronx this evening, or any other evening, and

         13  we can go to any of the schools in my district that

         14  have garbage piled up for days and have not had

         15  pick-ups yet, and have rats the size of small dogs

         16  that are going in and out of them. I think that they

         17  would instill fear in any of your inspectors.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before I call on

         20  my next colleague, let me just say, sticking to

         21  this, let me just say, Commissioner, that while I

         22  accept what you just said about the cafeteria and

         23  where a number of people use, let me also say that I

         24  think we should be aware, if you are not, that this

         25  Council and this Administration and the previous
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          2  Administration, not just this Administration, we

          3  aggressively open the schools of the City of New

          4  York where we started with beacon centers which

          5  operate almost anywhere up to ten, and there was a

          6  time until 11:00, this Council in its budget

          7  negotiations, also with the Board of Education

          8  negotiated opening up schools and activities of

          9  after school programs of which I will tell you that

         10  my experience in my district is that even in after

         11  school programs, while you may not use the

         12  cafeteria, there are locations where children are

         13  provided snacks. In the beacon centers I will tell

         14  you that they may not use the cafeteria but it is

         15  similar also. So, I just want to remind you that the

         16  school is no longer closed after 6:00, that most of

         17  our schools, with the help of this Council, have now

         18  those schools open during the evening.

         19                 So, I suggest because if you take a

         20  survey, I must tell you that one of the biggest

         21  complaints that I get from Administrations and I

         22  will leave it at that, since the Deputy Chancellor

         23  is sitting there, and I don't want to get anybody in

         24  trouble, because I have a good relationship with my

         25  colleagues educationally, at least locally, I don't
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          2  know about the central, but locally there is a

          3  constant communication between this Council member

          4  and the schools in my district, and I must tell you

          5  the number one complaint that I get is how the

          6  school is left after they close the evening

          7  activity.

          8                 And I have to echo what my colleague

          9  also said, my biggest complaint in my district is

         10  about the storing or putting out the garbage of not

         11  only during the day, but even after school closes,

         12  and then it is the kind of coordination between the

         13  Sanitation Department and the custodian in that

         14  school, that I am getting now a lot of my

         15  constituents within the surroundings of the school

         16  complaining about rats, and I am going to serve

         17  notice on you, sir. And I urge all of my colleagues,

         18  from now on every complaint I get about mice around

         19  schools and garbage, I am sending you letters. And

         20  then I need you to go out there and clean up the

         21  problem. I mean, that is being friendly now, I am

         22  being honest. Because it is not just about the

         23  cafeteria, it is about the school itself.

         24                 DR. COHEN: Sure. No, we agree with

         25  that. It is part of our --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The schools are

          3  now being used, like when I grew up in Williamsburg

          4  and the school was the community center, and that

          5  was closed for a long time. My first job to keep me

          6  going through school was at a school in Green Point

          7  as a receptionist, because that was my community

          8  center in the community, and now I am happy to say

          9  that working together many of our schools are now no

         10  longer closed after 3:00. On the contrary, they are

         11  open to at least 10:00 at night.

         12                 Council Member Harrison.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Thank you,

         14  sir.

         15                 I have several questions, Doctor. The

         16  first one to me is whether or not the 119 inspectors

         17  you have on payroll for food inspections is anywhere

         18  near adequate for the work that you are supposed to

         19  be doing.

         20                 I know from my own 20th Council

         21  District I have restaurants up and down the kazoo on

         22  every block, and we have problems with storage of

         23  the grease and the conditions that have been

         24  complained about, and I can probably use your 119

         25  inspectors just in my restaurant.
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          2                 But I was also speaking to my young

          3  man working in the office yesterday, who is a

          4  graduate, a recent graduate of a local high school

          5  which I shall not name because the condition may

          6  have been cleaned up, and he told me specifically to

          7  come here to register his observations from the

          8  cafeteria in the schools in which he had done, and

          9  his complaints were very graphic, I have a sick

         10  stomach thinking about them. But among them he said

         11  the cheeseburgers were never cooked, the meat was

         12  cold, the roaches were in the food, the roaches were

         13  on the trays, the mice and rats were in the

         14  kitchens, students stay away from the cafeteria

         15  because it is too disgusting to eat. The kitchens

         16  were dirty, the food was not refrigerated, it was

         17  prepared on Friday nights left for service for the

         18  following Mondays and Tuesdays and sort of went down

         19  hill from thereon. And the only safe foods he said

         20  were the pizzas that had to be served hot and the

         21  boxed cereals which had not been invaded by any

         22  rodents or anything else.

         23                 So, I have discharged my

         24  responsibility to my worker by bringing these items

         25  to your attention, as part of the question that I
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          2  wanted to ask as a follow-up; has there been any

          3  relationship -- have you checked whether there is

          4  any relationship to the amount of food wasted from

          5  the lunchrooms, in terms of the cleanliness of food

          6  that is served to the kids?

          7                 I don't know if you can answer me

          8  based on an hour and 20 minutes visit per inspector,

          9  but I know from working on Board of Election Days

         10  that the kids sometimes share the facilities with

         11  the election booths and the kids are so busy

         12  throwing the food at each other, the election

         13  inspectors have to duck regularly to avoid that kind

         14  of condition. And I just wonder if the foods were

         15  more tasty and more appetizing and perhaps cleaner

         16  whether the kids would be so wasteful of the food.

         17                 But to get to my question, we are

         18  coming out of the mosquito pesticide malathion

         19  discussions and hell-raising in the neighborhoods,

         20  and so, what I want to ask now is what kind of tact

         21  do you take? What kind of recommendations do you

         22  make for ridding the lunchrooms of infestations, how

         23  do you attack the problem and are the pesticides

         24  identifiable? Are they safe to use around the

         25  children? Are they anything to arouse the fears and
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          2  concerns of the parents?

          3                 MS. ROBINSON: I am not an

          4  exterminating expert, but I will tell you

          5  extermination and public health is basically the

          6  last resort. The first combat to controlling any

          7  type of vermin is first by building them out. That

          8  is like closing all of your holes around piping and

          9  so forth.

         10                 The next thing that we like to do is

         11  to take away some of their basic needs. We like to

         12  take away their water. We like to take away their

         13  food. And food for roaches and mice can be anything

         14  from a dirty can opener to a hamburger that some

         15  child stuck in their desk because they didn't want

         16  to eat. So part of that is basically cleaning up,

         17  basic sanitary condition.

         18                 The other part of that is actually

         19  stopping them from being able to make a nest. And I

         20  think most likely with the Board of Ed they probably

         21  have a lot of material in which mice can actually

         22  make a nest because they make it out of almost

         23  anything that is soft, including paper. Once you

         24  kind of remove these type of sources, you begin to

         25  reduce the population of vermin or roaches and at
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          2  that point then you exterminate. That is always the

          3  last resort.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, it

          5  seems to me, though, that is a long-range plan, and

          6  do you have a short-range plan?

          7                 For example, picking up on what my

          8  colleague had said earlier, if I have a roach in the

          9  house or I see them in the hall even, I use boric

         10  acid, which is a safe and clean and effective,

         11  almost instantaneous response. And do you advocate

         12  the use of such things has boric acid, which I would

         13  think are safe to use around children and pets?

         14                 MS. ROBINSON: Boric acid is not safe

         15  to use in a food service establishment like a

         16  cafeteria. It is prohibited by the Health Code. And

         17  the remedy for controlling vermin, it might seem --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: In the short

         19  term. In the short term, as an immediate response.

         20                 MS. ROBINSON: Let me just say it to

         21  you this way so that you understand. If you were a

         22  mouse, for instance, and you had a choice between

         23  eating rice and beans or eating green pellets, they

         24  are pretty smart. Which one do you think they are

         25  going to eat? It is really important --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I am

          3  thinking about roaches more than I am thinking about

          4  mice right now.

          5                 MS. ROBINSON: It is the same

          6  difference.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, I

          8  guess my roaches starve if they have to wait to eat

          9  what I leave over. But they do come into the house

         10  and they are not welcome guests.

         11                 DR. COHEN: Councilwoman, the

         12  exterminations that take place have to be carried

         13  out by licensed exterminators, so we look for

         14  evidence that those are being carried out by people

         15  who know what they are doing.

         16                 We don't license exterminators, but

         17  it is our charge to see that those extermination

         18  activities are conducted by people who know what

         19  they are doing.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Then let me

         21  just finish by asking you, do you have enough

         22  inspectors? Do we have to work at budget time to

         23  give you more inspectors? Because I have my doubts

         24  about whether or not this corps of workers you have,

         25  no matter how thorough and how dedicated they are to
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          2  their employment, can do the job for the whole City

          3  of New York when there are only 119.

          4                 DR. COHEN: Right. Well, I am sure

          5  that question will be discussed at greater length at

          6  the Management Report discussion because there the

          7  Food Safety Program will be discussed in the context

          8  of all of the inspections that we do.

          9                 You know, today I am very pleased to

         10  report that we are at 100 percent with respect to

         11  from the very inception of this program in September

         12  1996, and each and every year 100 percent of the

         13  public school cafeterias have been inspected by the

         14  Department of Health when they required reinspection

         15  that was done so that we had no shortage of carrying

         16  out our mission with regard to children and public

         17  health.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me remind my

         20  colleagues that this Committee pretty soon will be

         21  having hearings on the restaurant bills which will

         22  add inspectors.

         23                 The problem is, and that is our

         24  responsibility is, that when the agency comes before

         25  us during budget time, and we are told that the
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          2  number they have meets their goals of doing the

          3  inspections and then we take that to face value, let

          4  me point out that the only time there has been an

          5  increase of inspectors has been in the past when we

          6  have done it, and most recently because of the

          7  pending threat of legislation to force restaurant

          8  inspections, that the agency in fairness did, and

          9  the Administration added new inspectors without us

         10  doing that, so that number has grown because of that

         11  action. But that is really a budgetary, and the

         12  question I think, not only the MMR, but I think

         13  budget time, is do we accept whatever the

         14  Commissioner may be, when we ask that question, and

         15  if the agency had said the number that I have meets

         16  our needs, do we accept that?

         17                 If we don't believe that and you

         18  evaluate your district, you don't challenge it, you

         19  help me put in the budget the money, the resources,

         20  and force the hiring of inspectors.

         21                 Having said that, let me call on

         22  Council Member Rivera.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

         24  much, Mr. Chairman.

         25                 Good morning.
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          2                 I would like to join you, Mr.

          3  Chairman, in congratulating the Department of Health

          4  in uncovering this problem in over 370 schools. I

          5  think we are all here in all fairness because we are

          6  all concerned for the health and the safety of our

          7  children.

          8                 I am just curious did anything go

          9  wrong with whatever system was in place by the Board

         10  of Education, in that there was a need to bring in

         11  the Department of Health as to some kind of

         12  overseers; number one?

         13                 Ms. Robinson, you stated that the

         14  last approach that you would use is the use of

         15  professional exterminators. If that is the case,

         16  then how do you explain dead roaches, which by the

         17  way, roaches have been around here much longer than

         18  men and women, over millions of years, and I

         19  understand they are very hard to kill, or dispose

         20  of, so if you don't do it by use of a professional

         21  exterminator, then how do you explain dead roaches

         22  in boxes of cereal, in PS School No. 8 in the Bronx?

         23                 How do you explain that the Bronx

         24  leads the City in this problem?

         25                 DR. COHEN: What we were saying is
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          2  that our first line, way of addressing this issue is

          3  by preventing infestation in the first place. So, we

          4  don't want to have to rely upon --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: It was not

          6  prevented by the Board of Education.

          7                 DR. COHEN: Well, absolutely when

          8  there is infestation an extermination has to be

          9  carried out. It is carried out by licensed

         10  exterminators, and there is visible evidence of dead

         11  vermin, cockroach or mice, and that is something

         12  that has to be cleaned up because that could impact

         13  on health or safety and that is why when we go back

         14  to a facility, even though there has been

         15  extermination carried out, any evidence of that

         16  infestation, including a dead roach or a dead mouse,

         17  is nevertheless sufficient reason for us to give an

         18  additional violation.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Is anybody

         20  really being held responsible for what is happening,

         21  has happened in the schools?

         22                 DR. COHEN: As I said in my testimony,

         23  on the conclusion of the inspection visit, we have

         24  an exit interview with the food supervisor in which

         25  the violations are explained, as well as the
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          2  underlying reasons and explanation for what are the

          3  public health implications for those violations.

          4                 At the same time, and I know when the

          5  Board of Education gives its testimony, it will

          6  describe the oversight of that program that is in

          7  fact in very close contact with the Department of

          8  Health.

          9                 So, we don't rely exclusively on a

         10  supervisor at the level of the school, but there is

         11  a bureau at the Board of Ed that deals with this and

         12  we are speaking to them as much as we are speaking

         13  to the individual at the school.

         14                 Now, you know, we are pleased that in

         15  comparison with the private sector we are finding a

         16  relatively small number, about one percent of

         17  schools, that are meeting this threshold in terms of

         18  critical violations that require reinspection.

         19  Actually in food establishments, in private sector

         20  in New York City more than 20 percent will fail on

         21  this first visit. So the fact that we have one

         22  percent is a sign that there is a program that is

         23  preventive in its orientation, the fact that in the

         24  past three years each school that we cited because

         25  of multiple critical violations, that on
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          2  reinspection those were corrected, is also evidence

          3  that we are taking this seriously and the Board of

          4  Ed is as well.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Doctor,

          6  Councilman Espada touched on what could possibly be,

          7  if this is happening around the cafeteria, he

          8  touched on this could be symptoms of a bigger

          9  problem. You are the Department of Health, do you

         10  just limit your inspection to the immediate area of

         11  the cafeteria? Do you just plug whatever holes are

         12  near a sink that might no longer be there? What is

         13  it you do?

         14                 Don't you go in or outside the

         15  building and actually put in some kind of report as

         16  to whatever it is, whether the custodian or anyone

         17  is failing to do? And do you, Doctor, feel

         18  comfortable that we are not going to come back here

         19  next year the same time talking about the same

         20  issue?

         21                 DR. COHEN: The food inspection

         22  program is specifically looking at the preparation

         23  area and the larger cafeteria environment. We do

         24  have an integrated test management program.  We are

         25  responsible to address health issues that arise from
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          2  infestation of vermin, so we do have a concern in

          3  the Department of Health with the fact that there

          4  may be rat infestation where because of improper

          5  disposal of waste, and we have a unit that does look

          6  at that and would be alerted by the inspection

          7  person that there may be a need to carry out a

          8  further inspection of the premises beyond the

          9  cafeteria. But that inspection itself is not carried

         10  out by this individual. Do you understand?

         11                 I am saying if there is evidence of

         12  infestation that appears to be beyond the kitchen

         13  area, there is another area within the Department of

         14  Health that would carry out a further inspection,

         15  just as we respond to complaints from the public,

         16  information that we receive from the food inspection

         17  would lead us to go forward and look at the premises

         18  beyond the kitchen area itself, but not in that

         19  inspection that individual is carrying it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Last, what is

         21  the status of when it comes to the Bronx, the

         22  schools -- it seems like the Committee's report says

         23  that the Bronx leads the way; however, I can only

         24  identify maybe two or three schools on this list. If

         25  you have another list --
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          2                 DR. COHEN: I have to get that. What I

          3  said earlier in my testimony is that there were 525

          4  cafeterias with one or more critical violations, and

          5  I don't have --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: How many?

          7                 DR. COHEN: Five-hundred and

          8  twenty-five.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: How many

         10  schools are there in the City of New York?

         11                 DR. COHEN: That is out of 1,105

         12  cafeterias that are inspected. So, I can provide you

         13  at a future point with a breakdown by borough. I

         14  don't have it now. I only had the breakdown by those

         15  seven schools that had four or more critical

         16  violations.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Councilman

         18  Espada, whether they go along or not, I would be

         19  willing to join you on a tour of any school,

         20  anywhere in the Bronx.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, let

         23  me bring this back and perhaps for the record make

         24  sure that what was said is what I thought I heard.

         25                 Let's go back to the 1,105 school
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          2  cafeterias that you said was inspected and they

          3  serve over 800,000 meals a day.

          4                 I heard your colleague, when a

          5  question was asked, you said that you attempt to

          6  inspect them at least once a year. So that I

          7  understand what was said here, all schools get

          8  inspected once, at least once a year; is that what I

          9  heard?

         10                 DR. COHEN: That's correct.

         11                 MS. ROBINSON: That's correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And after you do

         13  that, do you have either at the end of the year a

         14  document that shows what the inspections were during

         15  that year, if there was a revisit or a reinspection,

         16  do you have something that shows that Board of

         17  Education corrected those violations, whether they

         18  be the critical ones or even general, and if they

         19  are general and still outstanding, so that one can

         20  keep following, is there such a report that you put

         21  out, sir?

         22                 DR. COHEN: We have internal documents

         23  but we have not put it out as a public report.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: May I suggest,

         25  like this restaurant bill, which I favor. I remember
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          2  as I started in this career, when I worked for a

          3  politician, then when I went to the Assembly and

          4  then at a certain point in the Council, one of the

          5  things that I used to do as an elected official is

          6  whenever you put out that Department of Health

          7  release on restaurant inspections and the

          8  violations, and you also had there when you have

          9  hearings, when to fine, I used to take restaurants

         10  in my district, and I used to tell the world. I

         11  didn't say for them not to go, that is for them to

         12  decide whether they should go or they should not go.

         13                 May I respectfully suggest that we

         14  work together on creating a document that we as a

         15  legislative body and as a Committee that oversees

         16  your agency, we can at the end of the, I guess year,

         17  because this is not fiscal year, this is calendar

         18  year, correct? You do your inspections based upon

         19  the school calendar year?

         20                 DR. COHEN: Correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Can we

         22  perhaps then work toward a document that we can see

         23  at the end of the calendar school year what schools

         24  were inspected, what was found, what was the

         25  correction if they, of course a violation, if there
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          2  were corrections to be made, like, for example, the

          3  immediate one is something you do on the spot, but I

          4  am still going back to the timetable of 15 days,

          5  whether it is the roach problem, what have you.

          6                 And finally, may I suggest that, and

          7  I appreciate, and again, don't get me wrong, I thank

          8  you for this list, I want something in writing that

          9  says in 1999 school calendar year, which is not over

         10  yet, sir, but let's just say I hope you have done --

         11  have you done all of the schools this year, since

         12  you said you completed it?

         13                 DR. COHEN: Yes, we did.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Did you do all

         15  1,105 schools this calendar year?

         16                 DR. COHEN: Yes, we did.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Then I

         18  would like to have in writing these outstanding

         19  schools that you list because you and I spoke

         20  yesterday before this hearing about providing me

         21  with the major, I call them major violations, I

         22  learned new terminology. You refer to it as critical

         23  and general. I want it in writing that all the

         24  corrections were made, however, in '99, in Public

         25  School 115 in the Bronx -- or middle school, I am

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  sorry -- there is still an outstanding issue which

          3  is the sink. When the Chancellor comes up, I am

          4  going to let my colleague ask the question. But at

          5  least in '99 we know there is an outstanding

          6  violation that needs to be corrected. And I am

          7  assuming, because I have never been to the school,

          8  it doesn't mean the sink is not there. It means the

          9  sink is not operating; is that fair to say?

         10                 I mean, they didn't remove the sink,

         11  did they?

         12                 MS. ROBINSON: No. I believe they

         13  basically changed the food service. They are now

         14  preparing food that now requires them to have a

         15  sink.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, but the

         17  sink is still there, and they need to replace that

         18  sink in order to remove the violation.

         19                 DR. COHEN: Correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I also need in

         21  writing in '98 and in 1997, so that it is not just I

         22  see a school and I see critical, general, and you

         23  are saying they have all been corrected, but this

         24  doesn't indicate that.

         25                 DR. COHEN: We will put that together
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          2  for the Council in a document in a more

          3  comprehensive way.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

          5                 I really am looking for critical

          6  items which you classify as Class

          7  A violations, and there is one, two, three, four,

          8  five, six, seven areas that you define in this food

          9  establishment inspection report.

         10                 DR. COHEN: Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         12                 Now, let me ask you something that I

         13  am familiar with, and I don't know how it works in

         14  the Board of Education.

         15                 In my senior centers, in my day care

         16  centers must go, who handle food, must go through a

         17  training by your agency and then when they complete

         18  it they get a certification, a certificate that they

         19  went. And so, when I see, when I visit it's a

         20  problem. I do see all workers wearing nets, as a

         21  matter of fact, this Thanksgiving I go to a senior

         22  center, you know what? When I am in the kitchen I,

         23  too, wear it. Gloves, like the hot dog stands that I

         24  now know you must have went after them because I

         25  have not seen as many of them handling the hotdogs
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          2  and the bagels and you name it, right here on

          3  Broadway, without the gloves. There are conditions,

          4  health conditions that are mandated, and day care

          5  centers, senior centers, I am aware that everyone

          6  one of them have to go through it.

          7                 I notice in the discussion with my

          8  colleague, and I must say we have been joined by

          9  Council Member Quinn, I am sorry, from Manhattan. I

         10  just saw here and I apologize for not recognizing

         11  you.

         12                 I heard someone mention about

         13  supervisors. The handlers of food in the Board of

         14  Education cafeterias, do they similarly have to go

         15  through that training where they have to go and get

         16  certified, like the day care, like the senior

         17  centers?

         18                 DR. COHEN: Just as in the private

         19  sector, it is the supervisor who manages the food

         20  preparation area who is required to complete the

         21  food protection course, not each handler but the

         22  person who is there on site at the school at all

         23  times during food preparation and serving of the

         24  food.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And that person
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          2  who goes through the training is the supervisor so

          3  that if a personnel handling food did not go to the

          4  training, is it that person's job to make sure they

          5  have the gloves and the net and everything else?

          6                 DR. COHEN: Yes, absolutely, correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, when I

          8  don't know something I have to ask the question. If

          9  each of these schools have a person who you train,

         10  then why are we finding these violations?

         11                 Do you get the gist? Maybe we should

         12  look at, and your Board of Health can promulgate, to

         13  include all personnel handling food at these

         14  cafeterias.

         15                 Because apparently, and I don't know

         16  and I guess when you gave me this report, I guess if

         17  I look at this, for example, I might find whether

         18  someone gets cited for not wearing gloves -- do they

         19  get cited for not wearing gloves?

         20                 DR. COHEN: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do they get cited

         22  for not wearing nets?

         23                 DR. COHEN: Correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And there are

         25  other conditions.
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          2                 Yet right now, and I say this to you,

          3  Commissioner, not the Board of Education, because

          4  really when I look, and this is a Health Code, and

          5  in the Health Code, in Section 81.15 it says

          6  supervisors of food and service establishment and

          7  non-retail food processing establishments to

          8  complete courses in food protection.

          9                 However, in my senior centers

         10  everybody has to go through that. You cannot work in

         11  the kitchen if you didn't go through this course. It

         12  doesn't say a supervisor. Is that correct? Or are

         13  they just voluntarily doing that?

         14                 MS. ROBINSON: A lot of them are

         15  volunteering just to go.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, maybe we

         17  should, and maybe -- can I amend this legislatively?

         18                 STAFF: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

         20                 Let me just say that, Commissioner, I

         21  want to work with you, that maybe we should have

         22  everyone who handles food go through this course,

         23  because I must tell you, it's a good course, and I

         24  commend you. And maybe in order to deal with

         25  potential violations, because not knowing that they
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          2  are violating, maybe we should look at saying that

          3  everyone who handles food should go through these

          4  courses. So, I leave it at that.

          5                 Last but not least, I have one more

          6  thing. Oh, I asked that question.

          7                 Are there any other questions of my

          8  colleagues?

          9                 Council Member Quinn, since I

         10  overlooked you, do you have any questions maybe?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, I

         13  guess we have to follow through on the things I

         14  requested of you, correct? And we will work on these

         15  issues collectively.

         16                 I want to thank you, and like always,

         17  I always give the last word to you, sir. Do you have

         18  any last parting words? This is your time.

         19                 DR. COHEN: Well, I think that since

         20  the Department of Health is participating in the

         21  oversight of food safety in the public schools, we

         22  see evidence that our inspection process, in

         23  conjunction with what the Board of Education is

         24  going to report on what it does is having a very

         25  positive impact.
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          2                 You know, we don't have any evidence

          3  thus far of food-borne illness that has occurred as

          4  a result of exposure to health hazards that may have

          5  appeared in any of these cafeterias. The percentage

          6  of schools that are considered to be meeting at

          7  thresholds are critical violations that would lead

          8  to closure and reinspection is much smaller than in

          9  the private sector. So, objectively we need to

         10  continue to be very vigilant. I think it is

         11  critically important that both at the level of the

         12  school facility itself, as well as at the Board

         13  there be full buy-in to the requirement to maintain

         14  a priority on food safety and food preparation,

         15  because it is significant potential for public

         16  health impact on these children.

         17                 So, I would like to ask my colleagues

         18  at the Board of Ed, with whom we are working very

         19  well with, how we can extend the program so that at

         20  the level of the facilities, the principal, the

         21  people on-site are participating and fully involved

         22  in our neutral inspection program.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just say,

         24  I don't normally do step in after you, but since you

         25  raised the good issue, and I see the Mayor's
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          2  representative, let me say that I want to follow up

          3  this hearing, the meeting with the Commissioner,

          4  with the Chancellor and myself, to explore how we

          5  get that into place. Because I do believe that is a

          6  fair request.

          7                 And before you leave, I want to make

          8  sure again I understood correctly.

          9                 When you inspect, who do they give

         10  this to? They do it on-site, correct?

         11                 DR. COHEN: They do it on-site,

         12  correct. There is an individual, a supervisor.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: They may, for

         14  example, ask for needed correction, like you

         15  mentioned with the heating and what have you. But

         16  after it is all said and done, walk me again, this

         17  now comes back through the Department of Health?

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: Well, we leave a copy

         19  of the inspection report at the facility to the

         20  supervisor of the food operation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, you gave it

         22  to the supervisor, then your inspector comes back

         23  and processes through your office, correct?

         24                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So all of the
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          2  follow-up comes through your office.

          3                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, thank you.

          5                 Thank you, Commissioner.

          6                 We are joined by the Deputy

          7  Chancellor, and I believe his title is Deputy

          8  Chancellor for Operations, Harry Spence.

          9                 We have also been joined, with him is

         10  Kevin Gill, who is the Executive Director of Food

         11  Services and Transportation Services.

         12                 Mr. Chancellor, first of all,

         13  welcome. Thank you for accepting our invitation.

         14  Please identify yourself for the record and those

         15  with you, and my beginning is, do you have a

         16  prepared text? No. And I understand you are showing

         17  a video.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I don't

         19  have a prepared text. What you do have is a copy of

         20  the presentation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, good.

         22                 Why don't you identify yourself and

         23  then proceed with your individual presentation.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: My name is

         25  Harry Spence, Deputy Chancellor for Operations for
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          2  the New York City Board of Education. I am joined by

          3  Mr. Kevin Gill, who directs the Office of School

          4  Food and Nutrition Services, as well as School

          5  Transportation, and members of his staff, to review

          6  with you the activities of the Office of School Food

          7  and Nutrition in the area of food safety.

          8                 I want to quickly summarize both what

          9  I know of this operation and what we have heard this

         10  morning. It was I think about three weeks ago that

         11  the Office of School Food and Nutrition Services

         12  received from the US Department of Agriculture the

         13  Regional Best Practices Award for Food Safety. In

         14  most cities that would be a topic of great cheering.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That would be

         16  what?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: That would

         18  be a topic for great cheering. It received little or

         19  no notice in New York. We were determined to be the

         20  outstanding best practice food services organization

         21  in the Northeast, and the Regional Administrator

         22  said we accept the national example, and other

         23  cities in the country should come to visit our

         24  operations. In most cities, the city fathers and

         25  mothers would cheer to that event.
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          2                 Secondly, we just heard --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: May I --

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: If I could

          5  just finish what I was saying.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: We secondly

          8  heard, actually last year in 1998, School Food

          9  Services received what is called the Sunshine Award,

         10  the National Award, for the quality of its menu

         11  offerings, an outstanding school system in the

         12  country, for the quality of its menu offerings, the

         13  nutritional value of the food provided by the New

         14  York City School System is outstanding in the

         15  nation. In most cities that would be a subject of

         16  congratulation.

         17                 I just heard that in fact the

         18  inspections of kitchens, school kitchens, has

         19  identified one percent that failed the initial

         20  inspection. The private sector has a record of 20

         21  percent failing. The Commissioner of Health just

         22  told us that. In fact, as a result it is clear, the

         23  school system has a record of 20 times better than

         24  the private sector on cleanliness in its kitchens.

         25  In most cities that would be a subject of
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          2  congratulation.

          3                 We are very proud of the work that

          4  School Food and Nutrition does. It served in the

          5  last three years half a billion meals without a

          6  single incident - knock on wood - because we pray

          7  every day that this will occur safely, without a

          8  single incident of food-borne illness, half a

          9  billion meals.

         10                 The New York City school system is

         11  the largest single private provider of meals, that

         12  is institutional provider of meals in the country,

         13  and in three years not a single food-borne illness

         14  instance. We continue to pray because these odds are

         15  against us. Statistically the likelihood of an

         16  instance is high, given the huge numbers. It is an

         17  extraordinary record of achievement that Kevin Gill

         18  and his staff, all the way down to every food worker

         19  in the kitchen exercises such care and that the City

         20  of New York exercises in fact with our full support,

         21  carries out absolute white glove inspections in our

         22  kitchens. We have said we want those inspections to

         23  be the most rigorous possible, because you can

         24  imagine our concern of what a single incident of

         25  food-borne illness can produce. Coca Cola nearly
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          2  went down in Europe in the last three months because

          3  of an outbreak never definitively traced to Coca

          4  Cola in a school in Belgium.

          5                 So, we have in the last three years,

          6  Mr. Gill, myself, his staff, we set for ourselves

          7  the goal, because we knew what everyone I think

          8  knows, which is the instances of various resistant

          9  strains of food-borne illness are increasing all the

         10  time. E.coli, which in Albany this summer produced

         11  serious illnesses in many, many, I don't remember

         12  how many but I think hundreds of people, was once a

         13  negligible risk. E.coli, because of drug resistant

         14  strain, is now a dangerous potential source of

         15  illness.

         16                 We set out three years ago to make

         17  the New York City school system the safest food

         18  deliverer in the nation, and just a month ago we

         19  were awarded by the Department of Agriculture with

         20  the best practices award for this region.

         21                 We are proud of that record. I am

         22  very proud of the work that Kevin Gill and his

         23  people do. I believe, and I believe the evidence is

         24  absolutely clear today, that parents of this system

         25  should know that they can send their children to the
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          2  schools, to eat meals in their schools, and know

          3  that those are safer than the meals they will

          4  receive if they send their children to the local

          5  fastfood outlet or local restaurant, that the

          6  likelihood of food-borne illness is less if they eat

          7  in the school cafeteria than if they go outside by a

          8  factor of 20 to 1, if I use the Commissioner's

          9  numbers, a factor of 20 to 1.

         10                 I believe we should make clear to all

         11  parents that this is a safe system from which to

         12  acquire critical meals.

         13                 We are for many children the provider

         14  of absolutely essential nutrition. Many children do

         15  not get regular meals at home. If a scare around the

         16  quality of food, an unwarranted scare around the

         17  quality of food in kitchens in the schools risks the

         18  danger of children who now rely on those kitchens

         19  for critical nutrition, parents frankly who don't

         20  feed them right, parents who are in some instances

         21  too desperate to be able to get them decent meals,

         22  parents whose own distress and trouble may lead them

         23  to totally neglecting meals for children, we provide

         24  critical nutrition for thousands and thousands and

         25  tens of thousands and hundreds of thousands of
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          2  children in this City.

          3                 So, a just and fair representation of

          4  the safety of our kitchens, I believe is critical to

          5  the welfare and safety of many, many, many of our

          6  children, of thousands of our children, and I am

          7  glad that this Committee has taken this opportunity

          8  to clarify what were absolutely unwarranted reports

          9  in one particular press outlet. Learning about the

         10  public school system from the New York Post is like

         11  learning about the United States from Provda in

         12  1972, it bears no relationship to the reality.

         13                 So, I am delighted and I appreciate

         14  you, Mr. Chairman, taking the leadership to clarify

         15  what is really happening in the schools, and to make

         16  clear to parents of this system that the

         17  inflammatory writing bear no relationship to any

         18  risk to their children in these schools, for

         19  bringing to, that you and the Commissioner together

         20  made clear, that the record of the schools is 20

         21  times better than that of restaurants, fastfood

         22  outlets and the private sector, that I greatly

         23  appreciate, and I think in doing this you have done

         24  a service to the children of this City.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chancellor.

          4                 Let me just say this, because when

          5  you and I spoke yesterday, I wanted it to be clear

          6  that this Committee was focusing on the health

          7  issues and to set the record straight, and like I

          8  said to you yesterday, I am aware of how the

          9  Chancellor and you come constantly to a committee of

         10  this body and for the most part deals with the

         11  educational part of, and rightly so, and maybe this

         12  subcomponent of the overall bureaucratic system may

         13  be overshadowed by other pressing concerns. And my

         14  concern was that it began with a reporting by New

         15  York 1, and I first saw that. Second was not only

         16  the report of the New York Post, but then the Daily

         17  News picked it up, but then Newsday also picked it

         18  up. So, today's hearing is to -- and I said to you

         19  clearly yesterday, this is not an educational issue,

         20  that this was a health issue and I have an

         21  obligation and responsibility to deal with it and

         22  set the record straight and move ahead.

         23                 Let me tell you again, and I just

         24  echo and reinforce what I said to you yesterday,

         25  which I think is lacking. And I think from these
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          2  hearings, please note that there are those of us on

          3  this side who have been very supportive of the Board

          4  of Education.

          5                 Some of our frustration is the lack

          6  of communication.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I

          8  understand.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me say that

         10  if the federal USDA awarded the New York City Board

         11  of Education the Best Practices for 1999, I must

         12  tell you that I was not aware of it. And no other

         13  federal members of congress who should be joining

         14  with parents praising, because I know if I saw that

         15  this Health Committee and this Chair would have

         16  written and commended not only the Brooklyn member

         17  who by the way is the president of the Board of

         18  Education, since I come from Brooklyn, and the

         19  Chancellor for receiving the award.

         20                 I must tell you that the problem I

         21  have is that, again, the Board of Education was

         22  awarded by the same federal agency that is the

         23  overseer, the Sunshine Award for Excellence in Menu

         24  Planning for 1998, this is the first time, and I

         25  must tell you, Mr. Chancellor, I visit my school and
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          2  in the past year, and this last two years, I don't

          3  recall ever seeing anyone within the local district,

          4  or even on the Chancellor's district, the High

          5  School Division boasting about this.

          6                 So, I challenge the Board of Ed to

          7  better communicate with us and elected officials,

          8  not only the negatives but the positives. And since

          9  this is an award that is health related, not

         10  educational, or at least agriculturally, if the

         11  other Committees failed to recognize it, I will tell

         12  you that I will be the first to do that, and I think

         13  that is my problem with the Board of Ed.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: There is a lack

         16  of communication between the Board of Education, and

         17  I am not saying that you don't communicate or you

         18  don't come to the proper Committee, but there are 51

         19  members of this Council, and there are areas that

         20  are germane to the Board of Education, and

         21  unfortunately this is the first time that I have

         22  been the chair of this Committee for two years, I

         23  have been in the Council, and on this Committee for

         24  15 years, and this is the first time, and for the

         25  record, we extended an invitation, you accepted it
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          2  without any threats. You don't have to come before

          3  this Committee, you voluntarily came to face the

          4  music, and I appreciate you setting the record

          5  straight.

          6                 Now, having said that, let me move on

          7  --

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Well, let

          9  me take the opportunity to do exactly what you say,

         10  which is to better communicate our accomplishments

         11  in some of these areas, and I think our presentation

         12  that Mr. Gill will briefly, but I think succinctly,

         13  take you through will bring you up to date on both

         14  what we do and some of the recognition of the work

         15  that we have done.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

         17                 MR. GILL: Food safety, our first

         18  priority. Nowhere else in America offers the

         19  potential for so large a foodborne catastrophe,

         20  because nowhere else are so many meals, 160 million

         21  meals annually, served in so confined a space.

         22  Safety requires a commitment to a common vision for

         23  safety within the organization, the establishment of

         24  standards well above the minimum acceptable level

         25  and a rigorous inspection program.
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          2                 We are pleased to report to the City

          3  Council the Food and Safety Program in use in the

          4  New York City public schools is recognized as the

          5  finest in the United States.

          6                 The United States Department of

          7  Agriculture awarded the New York City Board of

          8  Education the Best Practices for 1999. In presenting

          9  the award, the director of the Northeast Region for

         10  the United States Department of Agriculture noted

         11  that appropriately the New York City Board of

         12  Education established itself as the nation's leader

         13  in this area. She added that every school system

         14  should copy the program used in New York City.

         15                 The USDA also bestowed upon the Board

         16  of Education the Sunshine Award for Excellence in

         17  Menu Planning, 1998.

         18                 We have established a close working

         19  relationship with the New York City Department of

         20  Health, whom we consider to be a partner in this

         21  effort. Each year the Department of Health has

         22  raised the standard for food safety in New York

         23  City, and we therefore note with pride even in the

         24  face of an increasing standard of measurement, the

         25  Department of Health inspections and public schools
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          2  have resulted in an 11 percent increase in

          3  violations per visit this year, as compared to last

          4  year.

          5                 To place the rate of Department of

          6  Health violations in perspective, it is important to

          7  understand that the Department of Health conducts

          8  white glove inspections. For our part we welcome and

          9  appreciate these types of inspections because

         10  violations for items like dented cans, proper glove

         11  usage and cloudy sanitizing solutions help promote a

         12  level of attention to detail that protects against

         13  more serious problems.

         14                 It is important that this intensity

         15  is maintained if the Board of Education and every

         16  other food establishment in the City is to continue

         17  to provide safe food for New Yorkers.

         18                 Our record even with these tough

         19  standards is excellent. During Fiscal Year 1998/'99

         20  the Office of School Food and Nutrition Service

         21  received a violation for every 62,000 meals served.

         22  This ranks us at or above the level of the City's

         23  finest restaurants.

         24                 The food safety process begins with

         25  food we bring into the system. School meals are
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          2  monitored daily for food safety from the time the

          3  food is received to the time it is served or from

          4  the farm to the fork.

          5                 Food deliveries are rigorously

          6  checked for freshness, quality and visible

          7  contamination. Any food that does not comply with

          8  the strict standards and specifications of OSF&S is

          9  returned to the source.

         10                 Microbiological testing is done on

         11  each production run of processed foods before

         12  shipment. We hold suppliers accountable with strict

         13  disciplinary procedures.

         14                 The main food safety tool used by

         15  Office of School Food and Nutrition Services, HACCP,

         16  HACCP stands for Hazard Analysis Critical Control

         17  Points. It was first developed by NASA to protect

         18  astronauts in space. It assesses the potential

         19  hazards associated with each operational step and

         20  identifies control points critical to producing and

         21  serving safe meals, it defines measurements and/or

         22  actions that will promote safety, it specifies

         23  actions to be taken if a variance is identified.

         24                 School Food Services adapted the

         25  federal program for specific use in the schools two
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          2  years ago. HACCP provides an added level of safety

          3  beyond the old line inspections that looked at

          4  walls, floors, et cetera. It pushes implementation

          5  of the safety standards out to the schools.

          6                 The School Food Service HACCP program

          7  is documented in a manual found now in all kitchens.

          8  We have incorporated HACCP food safety principals

          9  into every aspect of the food server operation,

         10  including menu planning. School food services

         11  created a HACCP training center, all managerial

         12  supervisory and kitchen staff are trained. There are

         13  three separate one-day courses for in charge

         14  employees. Our aim is to have them understand the

         15  why of preventive measures, and to reinforce our

         16  focus on children.

         17                 All employees attend training and

         18  standards and procedures, and employee training is

         19  the central factor of the USF&S Food Safety Plan.

         20                 Education and early intervention has

         21  long been our best defense against food-borne

         22  illness.

         23                 The HACCP trainers have trained and

         24  certified approximately 2,000 in charge employees

         25  and three consecutive phases of HACCP protocols and
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          2  practices.

          3                 Quality reinforcement. Every aspect

          4  of the organization is involved in reinforcing

          5  quality. The primary aims of HACCP monitoring is to

          6  provide reinforcement in training. HACCP monitors

          7  have received training and certification and the

          8  principal's verification and validation of HACCP at

          9  Rutgers University, and serve safe certification in

         10  a practical approach to HACCP, from the Educational

         11  Foundation of the National Restaurant Association.

         12  Quality assurance inspectors and all managers in the

         13  organization are also responsible for maintaining a

         14  safety first attitude when visiting and observing

         15  kitchen staff.

         16                 The involvement of the Department of

         17  Health is obviously a key factor in this unified

         18  approach to safety.

         19                 The Board of Education Pest Control

         20  Team uses the state of the art integrated pest

         21  management system. The system was developed by

         22  Cornell University and the New York State Department

         23  of Environmental Conservation. Our expertise in this

         24  program is recognized by federal, state and city

         25  agencies with an interest in this area.
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          2                 The feedback system allows for -- we

          3  accept, log and track every single phone call. We

          4  identify patterns and incidents to be explored, we

          5  follow rigorous sanitation and safety guidelines to

          6  ensure the safety of all food served to our

          7  children.

          8                 The bottom line is our schools are

          9  the safest place for children to eat. To put in some

         10  perspective the violations for vermin or pests, we

         11  received one violation for every 186,000 meals we

         12  served.

         13                 To put that in some context a family

         14  of four eating dinner together every night, a

         15  similar situation would be they would find one

         16  violation in 127 years of having dinner at home.

         17                 A large part of the success of the

         18  program is due to the dedication of every member of

         19  the school food service team, to providing the

         20  children with safe, nutritious and appetizing meals.

         21                 Local 372 Veronica Costa have

         22  continued to be strong advocates in food safety and

         23  have encouraged and supported our efforts at every

         24  phase of this initiative.

         25                 In addition to the New York City
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          2  Department of Health, we have established a

          3  relationship with organizations with an

          4  institutional interest in food safety. Chief among

          5  them, the United States Department of Agriculture,

          6  the Environmental Protection Agency, New York State

          7  Education Department, New York State Department of

          8  Agriculture and Markets, Cornell Agricultural

          9  Extension, Community Food Resource Center.

         10                 We have been very fortunate to have

         11  the full support of the Board and the Chancellor as

         12  we have continuously worked to push the envelope in

         13  every phase of our organization.

         14                 HACCP is one example of how we have

         15  refused to rest in our past success, but instead

         16  have chosen to use that success as a stepping off

         17  point for better and safer service to children.

         18                 In the final analysis, however, the

         19  true measure of our success is provided by our

         20  customers.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Mr. Gill, let me

         23  just say that someone who was very dear to me of who

         24  I have nothing but the highest respect and

         25  admiration for, who I believe leads a very special
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          2  school in my district had nothing but kind words

          3  about you so that I know who you were, and so I

          4  don't question at all, because if my dear friend

          5  thinks that way about you then don't let the

          6  reporting scare you.

          7                 I also want you to know that I did

          8  receive your phone call, and let me just say with

          9  the Chancellor's permission, since one of my

         10  colleagues, here is what I would be willing to do

         11  with you through the Chancellor's Office; and that

         12  is, rather than having the whole Council, what I

         13  would like to do is work with the Chancellor's

         14  Office so that I will, I invite all of my colleagues

         15  of that particular Borough Delegation to join me to

         16  visit some of these locations and probably I will

         17  ask them, especially those members of the Committee,

         18  that if there is any particular schools, that maybe

         19  you would like as we visit, so if it is the Bronx

         20  and you have a particular school you would like to

         21  visit, then I can pass it on to the Chancellor's

         22  Office, and I think that would be easier than rather

         23  having the whole -- because normally when a

         24  Committee goes, the courtesy is to have every

         25  Council member be invited. And I don't think,
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          2  although you won't get 51 members, I don't think --

          3  I mean, I am sure you will show me when the activity

          4  is going on and I also know of concern, safety and

          5  what have you.

          6                 So, what I will do, if it is all

          7  right with you, Mr. Chancellor, is have my Counsel

          8  reach out to you and maybe after the holidays,

          9  before we get into the real budget scenario, you

         10  know, right after the first of the year while we are

         11  waiting for the submission of the Mayor's

         12  Preliminary Budget and Hearing, maybe what I would

         13  be willing to do is visit each borough and invite my

         14  colleagues from those boroughs to have you show us

         15  exactly what you do firsthand.

         16                 So, that would answer your call.

         17                 MR. GILL: Mr. Chairman, I would say

         18  you would be very pleasantly surprised -- well, you

         19  wouldn't be surprised because I know you spend a lot

         20  of time in the schools.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         22                 Mr. Chancellor, let me ask you some

         23  questions that I posed of the Commissioner, and

         24  maybe you again could set the record straight.

         25                 And let me just say that I am happy
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          2  to see that even though you are not mandated that

          3  you internally have your own training and process

          4  where now my question was answered, and that is that

          5  all of your personnel, i.e. the Board of Ed, must go

          6  through this training, this academy, so I want to

          7  say that.

          8                 When those reports came out, Mr.

          9  Chancellor, like I said, I do have a good

         10  relationship with, not only in terms of elementary

         11  and junior high school, because as you know, under

         12  the law you have a local school board that are

         13  elected, nine members, but I also have a good

         14  working relationship with the principals and

         15  particular superintendents in those schools in my

         16  district. And I must confess that I did not reach

         17  out to the superintendent because I did not want to

         18  put them in a position of embarrassment, or I don't

         19  want anyone to say that he won't tell you the truth

         20  before she because the Board. But I did reach out to

         21  the elective school board members, and I won't tell

         22  you which ones, but I must tell you, when I

         23  confronted one of the presidents of the school

         24  board, his answer to me was that he was not even

         25  aware that there were violations in schools in his
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          2  school district. So, maybe you should walk us

          3  through.  That once the Department of Health comes

          4  in and inspects a school, and now the supervisor, as

          5  it was said, was given this report. I know that from

          6  there there are layers, or at least a chain of

          7  command which ultimately gets to you, and I am sure

          8  the Chancellor and you as operational. Maybe I need,

          9  and my colleagues, walk us through on that process.

         10                 MR. GILL: Okay. The inspector shows

         11  up at a school. My office is called. A school food

         12  service manager and possibly a district supervisor

         13  will be deployed to the school.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So when you say

         15  district supervisor --

         16                 MR. GILL: District 14, for example.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thirty-two

         18  supervisors are within the system, one of each

         19  school district.

         20                 MR. GILL: And the high schools are

         21  included as well as --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, so it is

         23  32, plus the high school. Now, in the high school,

         24  how do you work out --

         25                 MR. GILL: We contain the high schools
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          2  in the community school district.

          3                 For example, in School District 14

          4  you might have Eastern District High School --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It is not called

          6  district, it is Grand Street Campus.

          7                 MR. GILL: All right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It has been

          9  restructured. There are three schools in there.

         10                 MR. GILL: Sorry.

         11                 But the School Food Service Manager,

         12  who might have three or four schools to supervise,

         13  would be deployed to the site, would meet with the

         14  inspector, walk through the inspections, find out

         15  all of the issues, whatever the violations were.

         16                 If, for example, there were dented

         17  cans, the cans would be discarded. If, for example,

         18  there was evidence of vermin. If the glue boards

         19  indicated there was dead cockroaches on the glue

         20  boards, the Pest Control Office would be contacted,

         21  they would go to the site either that day or at the

         22  very latest the next day.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, within those

         24  15 days the Commissioner was referring to, that

         25  condition would have been addressed and all you are
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          2  waiting for is certification by the Department of

          3  Health that you have complied with that; is that

          4  what you are saying?

          5                 MR. GILL: We don't wait for them to

          6  comply. They would come back at another date. We

          7  work very closely with the Department of Health. We

          8  don't do it because of the Department of Health.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But you are

         10  meeting the 15 days which is mandated to get it done

         11  before 15 days?

         12                 MR. GILL: Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         14                 MR. GILL: If, for example, an

         15  employee was not wearing gloves, or temperature was

         16  not held properly, that is a major violation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right.

         18                 MR. GILL: There would be a

         19  disciplinary action taken. At a minimum the person

         20  would be written up and that would go in their

         21  personal folder. If it happened again, they would be

         22  brought up in a personal review conference.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Here is what I am

         24  leading to. The question I ask of a president of a

         25  school board who would be an elective
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          2  representative, now I know what you do as the

          3  Executive Director, my question really is: I am

          4  assuming the superintendent, besides the principal

          5  and the Chancellor's Office, they get notified, does

          6  the superintendent of the district notify the local

          7  school board of these violations? That is the

          8  communications I am referring to.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Actually,

         10  one of the things, frankly, that we try and do, this

         11  is sort of a major thrust of our effort, we believe

         12  that the -- and this is really a personal belief as

         13  well, the task of operations, those of us who

         14  essentially provide the fundamental platform for

         15  teaching and learning in this system, is to allow

         16  the instructional leadership of the system to focus

         17  to the extent possible exclusively on the teaching

         18  and learning of children.

         19                 Our goal is to do our job and

         20  operation so well that they need to give minimal

         21  attention to issues like kitchen cleanliness and the

         22  like, so that they can really focus on the core

         23  mission, and as you know, very challenging mission

         24  of educating our children to a standard never before

         25  asked of any generation of children.
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          2                 We can provide them with that data,

          3  but, frankly, we believe it is our responsibility

          4  and operation to make sure that they can simply be

          5  confident that the work is being done right, and

          6  this hearing I think reinforces that confidence.

          7                 If at any point they believe they

          8  have reason to lack confidence, then that can be a

          9  matter for their attention. We are happy to provide

         10  the information, we do our best not to distract them

         11  from the core issue of teaching and learning.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just say

         13  that since, and I want you to know, young people,

         14  that the gentleman who was just speaking happens to

         15  be the Deputy Chancellor for Operations within the

         16  Board of Education, Harry Spence, and I always will

         17  stop a hearing, especially when the future of New

         18  York comes to visit us. And let me just say to you,

         19  if you were not here when the Commissioner of Health

         20  was here and we started showing a list of schools, I

         21  am happy to report that your school is not one of

         22  the schools that is on the list.

         23                 So, let me welcome the fourth -- I

         24  guess it is fourth grade, there are about 33 of

         25  them. The teacher is Ms. Gottlieb, and it is Public
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          2  School 149 in Jackson Heights, and the Council

          3  Member of that district is Council Member Helen

          4  Marshall.

          5                 Let me welcome you to City Hall and

          6  the City Council Chamber, and as you take your tour,

          7  this is history. And when young people come, because

          8  before Chairman of the Health Committee I was

          9  chairman of the Youth Services Committee, let me

         10  challenge you.

         11                 First of all, you see you are up in

         12  the balcony and we are down here. Here we are

         13  Council members elected by your parents and the

         14  people of New York to represent 51 districts that

         15  make up the City Council of the City of New York.

         16  And then of course on the other side is the Mayor.

         17                 Again, the reason why the Board of

         18  Education is before this Committee on Health is

         19  because there was numerous reports on health

         20  violations in the school cafeteria that were

         21  reported within the last two weeks, and I, as

         22  Chairman of the Health Committee, called this

         23  hearing to have the Commissioner of Health come

         24  before us, as a courtesy we extended that invitation

         25  to the Board of Education and they accepted it and
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          2  before you is the Board of Education, the Deputy

          3  Chancellor for Operations, and Kevin Gill, who is

          4  the Executive Director of Food Services and

          5  Transportation Services within the Board of

          6  Education, which is responsible for the operations

          7  of the cafeterias.

          8                 So, on behalf of Council Member

          9  Marshall and Speaker Peter Vallone, and all of my

         10  colleagues in the Committee on Health, let me

         11  welcome you to this hearing, and let me challenge

         12  you, saying the following: In New York City now

         13  there is a law that says term limits, meaning that

         14  many of us will be limited -- I have been here 15

         15  years, some of my colleagues, it is their first or

         16  second term, and after the Year 2001, close to 41

         17  members will not be able to run for re-election. But

         18  if you are impressed with this Chamber, and you are

         19  impressed that we are sitting over here looking at

         20  you, and you are impressed that there is a

         21  Chancellor there and there is this hearing, then I

         22  say to you, that if you study hard in your school,

         23  and you properly educate yourself, you, too, can be

         24  sitting in one of the seats that my colleagues

         25  happen to be in.
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          2                 Let me just share with you so that

          3  you know it is the whole City.

          4                 The gentleman on the extreme right is

          5  Council Member Phil Reed. He represents a district

          6  that spills from Manhattan to the Bronx, it is what

          7  we call a cross county district.

          8                 Council Member Julia Harrison is from

          9  the County of Queens. Council Member Pedro Espada is

         10  from the county or at least the Borough of the

         11  Bronx. Council Member Chris Quinn is from Manhattan,

         12  and of course, I, who I preside over this Committee,

         13  not only am I the majority whip of the Council,

         14  which is the number three leader of the Council's

         15  leadership, but I am chair of the Health Committee,

         16  I happen to come from North Brooklyn in Brooklyn.

         17                 So, for those of you who are from

         18  Queens, you will see Council Member Marshall,

         19  Council Member Harrison, Povman that was sitting

         20  here and others. Welcome to City Hall, and I hope

         21  your tour is one that you would be so impressed that

         22  you would want to say to your teachers how do I

         23  become a public official and run for office and one

         24  day you can take your rightful place right here at

         25  City Hall.
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          2                 Welcome, again.

          3                 Council Member Harrison.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: My name

          5  being called, I rise to the occasion.

          6                 Sir, you have, first of all, the

          7  right to be commended and I congratulate you for the

          8  entire Board of Education on the acclaim that you

          9  have achieved from the USDA.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I would like

         12  to know just a little bit, can you give me a

         13  thumbnail sketch of what Best Practices represents?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Well, the

         15  Department of Agriculture is the federal department

         16  that runs the entire national School Food and

         17  Nutrition Program, the free lunch program and the

         18  like. Best Practice represents essentially a

         19  nomination, more than a nomination, an award, to New

         20  York City school system to say that its Food Safety

         21  Program, which we have just described, represents

         22  the best model in the region and in fact the

         23  regional director said in the country, the best

         24  model of a model to be copied and emulated by every

         25  school system in the country.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Regarding

          3  food safety?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Regarding

          5  food safety.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: The handling

          7  of food?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: The

          9  handling of food, the maintenance of safe conditions

         10  in the kitchens, the assurance that food-borne

         11  illnesses, it is never absolute assurance, because

         12  the war between human beings and microbes will go on

         13  forever, and, frankly, at the moment we are losing

         14  it in the world, the microbes are doing better.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Yes, we are

         16  indeed. We all are.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: So that war

         18  will go on forever, and it is frankly our task to

         19  reduce the risk of food-borne illness to the

         20  absolute minimum we can humanely possibly reduce it

         21  to.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Okay, now,

         23  in the presentation that was made there was a

         24  comment that school meals are monitored daily for

         25  food safety from the farm to the fort; who does the
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          2  monitoring of the food safety in the schools? In the

          3  schools.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Well, there

          5  are a number of monitoring forces. The Department of

          6  Health described intensive inspections they do at

          7  least on an annual basis, but we ourselves do a

          8  significantly more extensive monitoring program. I

          9  am going to ask Mr. Gill to describe that.

         10                 And we would love to have you come

         11  and visit, by the way. We have a laboratory where

         12  samples of food are regularly analyzed, daily I

         13  guess analyzed, so that as food comes in, I am not

         14  sure where all they come from, but there are staff

         15  who are constantly testing, today, and five days a

         16  week, who are testing the quality of the food.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Central

         18  office.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Yes.

         20                 MR. GILL: All of the 10,000 people

         21  who work for school food services, their main focus

         22  for the last several years is food safety.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Can you

         24  describe what their two duties are, the 10,000

         25  people, can you describe the duties?
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          2                 MR. GILL: At the school level it

          3  would be a person who prepares the food, it would be

          4  somebody who washes the pots, it would be somebody

          5  who cleans up afterwards.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: And who

          7  supervises the function in the local school?

          8                 MR. GILL: There is a cook on duty who

          9  is responsible, that is the person in charge that

         10  the Department of Health referred to, who is getting

         11  a food handling certificate. There is a school food

         12  service manager who supervises three or four

         13  schools.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: And that

         15  person makes spotchecks during the course of a term?

         16                 MR. GILL: That person is located in

         17  the school.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: In the

         19  school itself.

         20                 MR. GILL: They may go to one or more

         21  schools during the course of the day, but they would

         22  go to every school at least once a week.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: All right.

         24                 MR. GILL: And order the food and

         25  monitor the behavior of the employees and make sure
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          2  that everything is clean.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Fine.

          4                 Now, in the hearing -- in the

          5  testimony that the doctor gave before you sat down

          6  there, I think I remember him saying that of the

          7  1,105 cafeterias that exist in the school system,

          8  there were 525 critical violations, does that sound

          9  familiar to you? Does that sound right?

         10                 MR. GILL: That sounds approximately

         11  right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Okay. So,

         13  then can you indicate how the violations which are

         14  critical, not just simply violations, critical,

         15  occur? And does that reflect in any manner on the

         16  supervisors in the local schools?

         17                 MR. GILL: The fact that there are

         18  violations --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Critical.

         20                 MR. GILL: Well, the critical

         21  violation could be vermin. We would take that very

         22  seriously.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Okay.

         24                 MR. GILL: If there was a repeated

         25  instance of it, and it was the fault of the kitchen
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          2  staff because they failed to adequately sanitize the

          3  kitchen after each day's work, then the cook in

          4  charge and the dietician would be held accountable

          5  for that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Now, does

          7  the staff in the kitchen relate closely with the

          8  superintendent on the premises, and is there a

          9  working relationship to help the staff?

         10                 MR. GILL: There is a close-working

         11  relationship between the principal of the school and

         12  the school food service manager and the cook. It is

         13  typical for a principal to visit not only the

         14  cafeteria each day but to visit and to say hello to

         15  the kitchen employees.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well,

         17  assuming we had the very best and most conscientious

         18  group of people in the kitchen and the principal,

         19  doesn't the role of the superintendent play a role

         20  as well in maintaining the cleanliness, in terms of

         21  removal of the garbage or the cleaning of the floors

         22  or such like?

         23                 MR. GILL: Are you referring to the

         24  custodian?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Yes,
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          2  custodian.

          3                 MR. GILL: Yes, that is the custodian.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I didn't

          5  mean the superintendent. Academic.

          6                 So, is that something that you also

          7  include in your concerns?

          8                 MR. GILL: Yes, the information passed

          9  to us from the Department of Health that don't

         10  relate to school food service, is passed along, (a)

         11  to the custodian, and (b) to the Division of School

         12  Facilities for their follow-up.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: So we depend

         14  a great deal that on the help of the custodian

         15  helping the food staff keep the place clean and

         16  vermin-free?

         17                 MR. GILL: We don't depend on them to

         18  clean the kitchen. The kitchen is generally

         19  spotless. The custodian is responsible for the

         20  cafeteria cleanliness.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Okay.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: If I could

         23  just add, the custodian is not responsible either

         24  for, correct me if I am wrong, for pest control.

         25  That is something out of full food and nutrition
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          2  services.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If I may, Julia?

          4                 But the custodian is the person who

          5  puts out the debris --

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Disposes of

          7  trash.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Of which Council

          9  Member Espada and many of us, and I think that is

         10  what is leading to, which is not the cafeteria, not

         11  you, Mr. Gill, but I think the question should be

         12  asked of the Chancellor, since he is Deputy

         13  Chancellor of Operations, because I don't believe

         14  there is not one Council member of this Council who

         15  does not get confronted each day with the volume of

         16  garbage that may be put out. And I reminded the

         17  Commissioner that you now have your schools for the

         18  most part open in the evening, whether it is a

         19  beacon or after school, so the volume of debris,

         20  garbage accumulated in the lunch part or breakfast

         21  part during the course is where a lot of the

         22  complaints that I receive is about rats, the roaches

         23  accumulating around where the garbage is, which you

         24  put it out. And sometimes they are not working with

         25  the Department of Sanitation for the pick-up. And
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          2  that many times in the morning when he comes back,

          3  and I see it myself, he then has to either relocate

          4  because of school opening in the morning, which

          5  usually kids start at 8:00 in the morning, and the

          6  garbage may not have been picked up.

          7                 So, I think that is --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: So there is

          9  another element of City bureaucracy which is also

         10  playing a role in helping us keep our kitchens clean

         11  and area clean.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I think the

         13  area clean, yes. I think the thing that we want to

         14  assure you of is that any difficulties we have, and

         15  we do have some difficulties, and this is a topic of

         16  constant conversation with the Department of

         17  Sanitation, over the last several years there has

         18  been a gradual reduction on average in the number of

         19  pick-ups at schools, and there has not been a

         20  reduction in the amount of waste produced, and most

         21  schools don't have adequate storage areas for

         22  long-term storage of trash.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, I

         24  would think then that this would be an area for

         25  conversation?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Well, what

          3  I want to do is emphasize that does not in any way,

          4  in any way affect the safety or cleanliness of

          5  kitchen areas.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Okay, I

          7  understand that, but it is tied in.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council member,

          9  again, which is that lack of communication, let me

         10  just say this:

         11                 This Council, and some of these

         12  members of this Council, have consistently put into

         13  the budget for the extra garbage pick-up every time

         14  administrations cut the amount of garbage pick-up at

         15  not only public housing developments, and I know

         16  that we put over a million dollars, but we include

         17  the Board of Education.

         18                 The problem I have is that when you

         19  all come before us as a budget process, which you go

         20  before the Finance and Education, and it just so

         21  happens I am on the Finance Committee, that is an

         22  area that you don't aggressively pursue. Because you

         23  are more on trying to get the day-to-day, whether it

         24  is more personnel on the Expense side and the

         25  Capital side, and your five-year Capital, and I must

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            119

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  tell you that some of us made that an issue because

          3  every year, not only this administration but

          4  previous administration has consistently cut the

          5  garbage pick-up which is in the Department of

          6  Sanitation, not the Board of Education. But when

          7  some of us meet with sanitation dare say to us,

          8  well, you know, the Board of Education is really not

          9  complaining. So, I just want to say that, not the he

         10  said/she said, but it is a budget process, which

         11  when that appropriation is made is not put in the

         12  Board of Education, it is put in the Department of

         13  Sanitation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: My final

         15  question, sir. Given that you have something like

         16  1,100 schools that you watch and you have what

         17  number of inspectors to cover them all for just your

         18  routine activities?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: There are

         20  many. It depends on what level of the Board you are

         21  talking about.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I am talking

         23  about the kitchen. I am talking about the food

         24  services.

         25                 How many workers do you have who
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          2  travel around and check on the 1,100 schools that

          3  serve food?

          4                 MR. GILL: Probably 125.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: And is that

          6  enough?

          7                 MR. GILL: In various capacities.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Is that

          9  number sufficient?

         10                 MR. GILL: The data support the

         11  kitchens are spotless and the food is very, very

         12  well received by the children.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Yes, but we

         14  still had 525 critical complaints.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: We are 20

         16  times cleaner than the private sector.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: That is

         18  wonderful.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: The

         20  question is what is an appropriate standard. We

         21  could spend a billion dollars and have thousands of

         22  people scouring every kitchen all day long.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, I

         24  doubt that. We are not asking --

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Well, we
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          2  could, but it would detract from the education

          3  provided to children. We believe we meet more than a

          4  reasonable standard of care.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: My question

          6  is how many times --

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: We believe

          8  it is adequate.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: How many

         10  times are the kitchens inspected on an average? How

         11  many times do your workers get into a kitchen during

         12  the course of one fiscal year, one school year?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: The

         14  supervisor who has three or four kitchens under

         15  their -- is there once a week for much of the day,

         16  right? So, there is a supervisory person who is not

         17  a permanent member of the staff of that particular

         18  kitchen but instead is responsible and therefore one

         19  of the things you worry about obviously in any

         20  organization is, if I work in that particular

         21  location with a team, over time I begin to kind of

         22  look the other way. So we have a supervisor who has

         23  three or four kitchens under their supervision at

         24  any one time who visits once a week at least, they

         25  are five days, they have four kitchens maximum
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          2  usually, they are there one and a quarter days a

          3  week, an outsider in a sense. That is a pretty

          4  intensive level of supervision.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: So you are

          6  comfortable?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I am very

          8  comfortable that the level of safety and supervision

          9  in our kitchens is beyond the standard that anyone

         10  would ask.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, I

         12  wouldn't even want to compare yourself to the

         13  standards because perhaps they may be deficient too.

         14  So, you know, you can be the best of the whole lot,

         15  but the whole lot may not have a very high record.

         16  So, I would just want to focus on --

         17                 MR. GILL: If I could answer your

         18  question in a different way?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Yes, Mr.

         20  Gill.

         21                 MR. GILL: Not only do we have

         22  supervisors and monitors and inspectors and regular

         23  employees, but also the principal of the school,

         24  teachers of the school, and we also have children

         25  who on average need school who choose to eat there.
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          2  If the kitchen wasn't clean, the children can see

          3  behind there. This isn't a hidden operation off in

          4  some factory, this is right out in the open. Every

          5  child goes into the cafeteria every day and they

          6  choose to eat there. They see behind, you can't hide

          7  the kitchen, you almost go into the kitchen.

          8                 We have increased the number of meals

          9  served from about 500,000 many years ago to over

         10  800,000 a day. It indicates that the children, the

         11  customer, are happy with the service. They are

         12  looking in there, they are not going to eat from a

         13  kitchen that is not clean.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: So in the

         15  discussion of the budget we don't have to worry

         16  about giving you more workers to check out the

         17  kitchens.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I think

         19  with respect to kitchen operation, obviously let me

         20  just say broadly, this is an area, for example,

         21  where some of our lowest paid workers exist, and we

         22  would always like to see better pay, but I would say

         23  that among the -- and this may not make Mr. Gill

         24  particularly happy, but I will say it bluntly, there

         25  are other higher priorities, not just instructional,
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          2  but I think we are doing an exceptional and

          3  extraordinary job in food services right now.

          4                 There was a story a couple of days

          5  ago, for example, about the absence of efficient

          6  safety operators to meet the needs of the schools.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Oh, I saw

          8  that.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I will tell

         10  Mr. Gill and others, I would place a higher priority

         11  at the moment on increasing safety officers, than

         12  believing that we need additional major budget

         13  capacity in food services. I am sure he would like

         14  more money and I understand that, but in my role as

         15  having to make budget decisions, I will tell you

         16  that I think they do an extraordinary job with the

         17  resources. They do so in a way that can provide

         18  assurance to parents.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, maybe

         20  we can put money in for a pay increase for the

         21  workers who are so poorly paid.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: That would

         23  always be appreciated I am sure, because they are

         24  among our lower paid workers, and they do perform a

         25  very dedicated service.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I have to

          3  recall that statement because that is a collective

          4  bargaining process.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That is not a

          6  budget process by us.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: It has

          8  nothing to do with us. I am sorry.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It is bad enough

         10  we are scrounging up money to help save the system,

         11  I don't need to add more burdens to the system.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Right, you

         13  don't need that.

         14                 I am not today pleading for more

         15  money for workers in our kitchens, that is a

         16  collective bargaining issue. But I would just note

         17  that they are among our lower paid workers.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: But let me

         19  just say to my colleagues, before I call on Council

         20  Member Reed, any member of the Council, or any

         21  member of this Committee who any of their schools

         22  brings to their attention that you need to address

         23  cafeterias, again, I suggest that now you know that

         24  Kevin Gill is the Executive Director and you deal

         25  directly with him. If we need, like a sink, or we
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          2  need things, that is a part of the process, and so

          3  that I am prepared to work with anybody because the

          4  sink is not a sink, it happens to be a violation of

          5  the health code, so I just wanted to say that

          6  respectively.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Let me just

          8  add there is one place where we are feeling a

          9  shortage of funds, in the Capital plan we initially

         10  proposed last spring an $11 billion capital plan,

         11  $66 million was included in that plan for kitchen

         12  renovations and improvements. All of that money was

         13  removed when the plan was cut to 70. So there is

         14  only the ordinary maintenance budget of the Board

         15  for any work that needs to be done in the kitchen.

         16  We believe over time some of these kitchens are

         17  clearly going to need more substantial renovation.

         18                 We could move much more swiftly on

         19  getting in place, for example, handwashing sinks and

         20  the like, if the capital budget of the system were

         21  adequate with respect to kitchens and that was a

         22  loss.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me be fair

         24  again, because as one from Brooklyn who had the

         25  largest number of Council members than any
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          2  delegation, I looked at the five-year capital plan

          3  and I must tell you, I am prepared to work with you

          4  as an individual member to address the needs of any

          5  schools in my district, but I am not going to be

          6  part of putting money into a budget capital plan

          7  that honestly is not fairly going to give to the

          8  schools in Brooklyn what is due to them.

          9                 Now, unless I am wrong then you have

         10  convinced me. But I am ready to work with any

         11  principal, any school in my district, and as an

         12  individual member I can put capital dollars into the

         13  budget, but I must tell you, I am not, and I speak

         14  as a Brooklynite, I am not satisfied with the

         15  adopted five-year plan that the Board of Education

         16  voted on which discriminates against the Borough of

         17  Brooklyn. But that is on another issue.

         18                 Council Member Reed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I am not sure

         20  Mr. Chancellor is too happy with the budget either.

         21  I think a lot of us could question how that process

         22  happened and what is equitable.

         23                 I would also join in recognizing the

         24  accomplishments that you have had.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I had a chance

          3  to read this before I had to leave. Unfortunately,

          4  my staff explained to me what OSFNS is, so I can say

          5  I am somewhat intelligent here.

          6                 And I think in almost any given

          7  instance you can walk in a situation and find a

          8  violation. So, I recognize that.

          9                 My concern, again, is back to what I

         10  was asking of the Commissioner, where the

         11  responsibility lies and how we are reviewing that.

         12                 They said that a person is certified

         13  to manage the kitchen, and I am sure they gave it

         14  some technical name, but that was the drift of it.

         15                 MR. GILL: Certified food handler

         16  certificate.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And then in your

         18  testimony, I think, Mr. Gill, or somewhere in this,

         19  there is a person who is in the school all the time,

         20  that is the person that has --

         21                 MR. GILL: That would be the cook in

         22  charge.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: They didn't call

         24  him the cook in charge, but that is the person --

         25                 MR. GILL: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Only one person

          3  which deals with the food has to have a certificate?

          4  Nobody else, sir?

          5                 MR. GILL: Everybody is trained by the

          6  Office of School Food and Nutrition Services and

          7  these HACCP principals. We have 12 training centers

          8  that are training all the time throughout the course

          9  of the year. All new employees are trained and

         10  people are brought up --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And certified?

         12                 MR. GILL: That is a Department of

         13  Health certification. We don't provide that

         14  certification.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I understand

         16  that. But they are your employees.

         17                 Who in the kitchen has to have a

         18  certificate? That is just the one person?

         19                 MR. GILL: There has to be at least

         20  one person in the kitchen at all times with that

         21  certificate.

         22                 So, it is possible that two or three

         23  people may have been trained.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: But the

         25  legal requirement is at any one time a minimum of
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          2  one person who holds that certificate must always be

          3  present in the kitchen.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And then this

          5  other person that supervises four or five kitchens,

          6  they must also need to have a certificate, yes?

          7                 MR. GILL: Yes. Plus they are also

          8  professionally trained. They are all college

          9  educated in the field of nutrition or dietetics or

         10  some such thing.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And what is the

         12  process of review of these people who it sounds to

         13  me are in management?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Well, they

         15  are regularly evaluated and reviewed. A critical

         16  component of evaluation will be the record of

         17  violations in the facilities under their

         18  jurisdiction. And if there emerges in any case a

         19  pattern where it appears that a supervisor is lax in

         20  the enforcement of health and food safety matters,

         21  that becomes a disciplinary matter. And let me say,

         22  in a system that has not historically been known for

         23  firm and swift disciplinary response --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That is right

         25  where I was getting ready to go.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I think I

          3  can say to you in this instance, in this area, for a

          4  variety of reasons that both have to do with Mr.

          5  Gill's own absolute commitment and conviction about

          6  the safety of children, I think labor unions that

          7  understand and share an understanding of how

          8  critically important to the health and safety of

          9  children these matters are, and therefore while they

         10  represent their members aggressively and well, they

         11  nonetheless understand that food safety violations

         12  are very, very, to be taken very seriously.

         13                 For those reasons and others, this is

         14  an area where the record of the frequency of

         15  employee discipline is significantly higher I think

         16  than in other areas of the Board.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: If I may, Mr.

         18  Chair, just broaden this questioning out for a

         19  moment, because you are talking about the health of

         20  our children.

         21                 Do you ever do any looking over the

         22  level of absences supposedly due to health of kids,

         23  or some correlation between that and the food

         24  safety, et cetera, et cetera?

         25                 I was struck by watching a program on
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          2  TV not too long ago, where they had taken a class of

          3  younger kids and really aggressively trained them on

          4  washing their hands and hygiene and had been able to

          5  reduce by like two-thirds the number of kids who

          6  were out with colds and infections, et cetera. But

          7  also this also carries over to food.

          8                 So, I am just wondering, do you ever,

          9  in your busy life of running the school system, make

         10  those correlations and see is there a connection

         11  between these things?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I haven't

         13  personally.

         14                 I think the key focus that we have

         15  had in terms of issues of absenteeism and health has

         16  been I think a shared concern with you about an

         17  asthma epidemic that is having a major impact on

         18  attendance by kids at school, and that is a very,

         19  very real concern and a very deep one.

         20                 You raise an interesting, I wasn't

         21  aware of this and you raise what may be an important

         22  issue. I also read recently that you are most likely

         23  to get infected in a hospital from a doctor or other

         24  technician who hasn't washed their hands.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: This was
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          2  something on 20/20 or one of those "reputable"

          3  programs, but it was just remarkable. And they had

          4  sinks in the classrooms for these young kids, and

          5  the reduction in the incidence of kids being out

          6  sick, particularly with infections, was just

          7  unbelievable.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: That is

          9  fascinating.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But I think it

         11  also carries over, if something is wrong in the food

         12  system and we are teaching these kids. So we are not

         13  looking at making that broader evaluation in terms

         14  of health.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Haven't,

         16  although you raise an interesting question.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Let me just

         20  add, the Chancellor has just initiated this year a

         21  new program, one of the victims of budget

         22  contraction over the last number of, ten years or

         23  so, was not only our athletic program, but many of

         24  our related fitness programs and health instruction

         25  and the like, and the Chancellor has initiated a new
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          2  initiative called Fit For Life. And Fit For Life is

          3  both an effort to restore athletic programs, fitness

          4  programs, but also to strengthen and broaden health

          5  education in the schools and the like.

          6                 So, what I will do is, we have a

          7  director at Fit For Life who is looking to build

          8  curriculum and the like around this, let me raise to

          9  him this experience and maybe suggest that he give

         10  you a call or whatever on this topic, because this

         11  is very timely in terms of our own efforts to

         12  strengthen health initiatives in the schools.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me make sure

         15  that I set the record straight on the questions so

         16  we understand, and I, too, have to echo what my

         17  colleague said and personally commend you because

         18  this hearing all started about health code and

         19  health violations, and clearly in the health section

         20  81.15 clearly just singles out supervisors of food

         21  service establishments and non-retail food

         22  processing establishments so that the health code

         23  mandates the supervisors you are referring to and

         24  that is the training and certification that the

         25  Department of Health gives, and that's it.
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          2                 Although, when I look at the Health

          3  Code with day care centers it is different. In day

          4  care centers every personnel has to go through that,

          5  okay? Remember what I said about the senior centers,

          6  and now that Jose gave me the Health Code, he gave

          7  me, and I am reading where in this particular

          8  scenario and the discussion, the only one who is

          9  mandated by the Health Code to be properly trained

         10  and certified by the Department of Health is the

         11  supervisors.

         12                 However, I have to commend you

         13  because as is following through, you have

         14  established within, which is your own, not mandated

         15  by law, this training center which now, which

         16  answered my question, you do train all of your

         17  personnel that handles and works in the cafeterias,

         18  which is not mandated by the Health Code.

         19                 The recertification of the

         20  supervisors is not you, it is the Department of

         21  Health, because it is mandated by the Health Code.

         22  But I must tell you that I am extremely impressed by

         23  what I read and which you have implemented and I

         24  echo, Mr. Chancellor, I would like to after the

         25  holidays, January, February, before we get into the
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          2  real budget, perhaps go and tour not only the

          3  training centers but the schools, so that if it is

          4  Manhattan, and I ask my colleagues, if it is

          5  anything with schools, instead of the whole Council,

          6  I will join the delegation so this way you will

          7  limit the number of people visiting these schools

          8  because we don't want to disrupt the operational

          9  part of it, and maybe that we can see firsthand.

         10                 My last, and it is a personal

         11  request, just because this gentleman is consistent

         12  in writing, and whenever a person is consistent in

         13  writing, although he tends to always use not this

         14  Councilperson, but I am of the old school that if

         15  someone takes the time to give me something, I think

         16  as a courtesy I should respond.

         17                 I am going to give you this folder

         18  that is in here I guess, and there are pictures

         19  about quote/unquote health conditions, of which when

         20  I read it and looked at it, in clear it says that

         21  they wrote to the Board of Education and no reply. I

         22  am giving you the package, sir. So, would you please

         23  respond not to him but to me personally and give

         24  this back to me, so then I can then respond to the

         25  gentleman so that at least if he gets nothing out of
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          2  this discussion, he would get a response that he is

          3  allegedly saying that he has forwarded to the Board

          4  of Ed.

          5                 Sergeant-At-Arms, give this to the

          6  Chancellor, please.

          7                 Having no more questions before me,

          8  again I will give you the same courtesy, Chancellor,

          9  the last word. And I look forward to this new

         10  dialogue of communications, especially in the case

         11  of health issues. So, having said that, Mr.

         12  Chancellor, if you would like to have the last word.

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Thank you.

         14  I would like to express my appreciation to the

         15  Committee for I think opening up the full public

         16  view to the reality of the safety of our facilities

         17  and our kitchens. I share obviously with you a sense

         18  that Mr. Gill and his operations are doing an

         19  extraordinary job, and I appreciate your efforts to

         20  make this very clear in an era in which there are

         21  always folks who irresponsibly will try and create

         22  hysteria simply for the sake of either attacking the

         23  school system, because they believe in privatization

         24  or because they hate public schools or whatever. I

         25  appreciate the fact of your commitment to this
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          2  institution in getting the truth out, both our

          3  strength and weaknesses, and I appreciate the full

          4  airing that you have given.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you so

          6  much. I really appreciate that.

          7                 Before we start calling the public,

          8  let me set the tone, there are about four; however,

          9  we have to be out of here by ten to one because

         10  there is another Committee MMR hearing on HPD and

         11  Housing Committee. So, having said that, the Counsel

         12  to the Committee will call out the names of those.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Claire Barnett

         14  and Frank Vernuccio.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Why don't we just

         16  identify ourselves for the record and then, I guess

         17  because you are representing the Borough President

         18  of the Bronx, I will yield to the distinguished

         19  colleague from the Bronx to begin the testimony.

         20                 MR. VERNUCCIO: Thank you so much, Mr.

         21  Chairman.

         22                 On behalf of Bronx Borough President

         23  Fernando Ferrer, my name is Frank Vernuccio.

         24                 Chairman Robles, while reasonable

         25  people may differ on some educational-related
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          2  issues, the need for cleanliness in our school

          3  cafeterias and food preparation areas is beyond

          4  debate.

          5                 Cleanliness is not an issue of

          6  adequate funding, or how that funding is spent. It

          7  is not an issue of union demands or management

          8  rights. It is not even a question of adequate or

          9  inadequate facilities. Any presence of filth, vermin

         10  or insects in schools is inexcusable and

         11  intolerable. Neither the Board of Education or

         12  on-site staff can in any way escape absolute

         13  responsibility --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sergeant-At-Arms,

         15  take the discussions out of the Chamber, please. We

         16  are still having a hearing here.

         17                 I am sorry, go ahead.

         18                 MR. VERNUCCIO: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 Neither the Board of Ed or on-site

         21  staff can in any way escape absolute responsibility

         22  for the presence of any unsanitary conditions, and

         23  unsanitary conditions have left 44 percent of Bronx

         24  schools crawling with pests.

         25                 The correction of this clear threat
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          2  to our children's health must be a top priority of

          3  the Board of Ed, and no excuse should be acceptable

          4  if the problem is not promptly addressed and

          5  properly corrected.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, let me just

          8  say this, and I say this respectfully.

          9                 I again go on record saying to the

         10  Borough President of the Bronx or any Borough

         11  President of the City of New York who represents a

         12  county and a borough, that when it comes to health

         13  issues, I don't care whether it is in the Department

         14  of Health or the Board of Education.

         15                 If issues that are health-related,

         16  one feels, and especially elected officials, that it

         17  is not being properly addressed by an agency or in

         18  this case the Board of Education, I suggest that

         19  either they use their delegation, for the delegation

         20  then to use this chair. Or that I again say to the

         21  Borough President that I, as you know, went to the

         22  Bronx and met with them and I say the same thing to

         23  him like every Borough President. Any health issue

         24  or matter that is brought to my attention by

         25  anybody, particularly the Borough Presidents, I will
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          2  be more than happy to pursue it and get the facts,

          3  and if we need be work together to correct it.

          4                 But these hearings take place when I

          5  become aware of situations and I try to be global,

          6  not parochial.

          7                 But any issue in the Borough of the

          8  Bronx that the Borough President of the Bronx or its

          9  delegation feels is not being addressed by the

         10  Department of Health, because in this case the

         11  Department of -- the Board of Education, I extend

         12  that same commitment and courtesy to the Borough

         13  President.

         14                 So, thank him for having you come and

         15  testify, but I am prepared to work with him, not

         16  against him.

         17                 MR. VERNUCCIO: I know the Borough

         18  President would deeply appreciate working directly

         19  with you on this issue.

         20                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         21                 MS. BARNETT: Hi. My name is Claire

         22  Barnett, I am Executive Director of Healthy Schools

         23  Network, Inc.

         24                 The City Council and its Health

         25  Committee are to be commended for holding this
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          2  hearing, you are really exploring a wonderful area

          3  which is the link between children's health and

          4  public infrastructure. And it makes a difference how

          5  the public infrastructure is constructed, operated

          6  and maintained. Your focus on pests and cafeteria

          7  programs and the lunch program is only part of a

          8  much larger problem that I think all of you are very

          9  well aware of. So, I encourage you to keep looking

         10  at the links between infrastructure and children's

         11  health.

         12                 Healthy Schools Network is a

         13  statewide coalition dedicated to assuring every

         14  child and school employee an environmentally safe

         15  and healthy school which is clean and in good

         16  repair, which means I hope we are out of business

         17  tomorrow, but it if probably going to be a long

         18  time.

         19                 Your focus on child health and

         20  accountability is a good one, and we want that, too.

         21  Beyond inspections and simple inspection reports,

         22  however, and manpower into inspections, which is a

         23  considerable expense if it takes place, I am sure

         24  you all realize that the paperwork alone will not

         25  block pests from getting into the building. Every
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          2  building in the city, most of the buildings upstate,

          3  have pest problems of one description or another. It

          4  is terribly important for the New York City Board of

          5  Ed, as well as for the City Council to realize that

          6  you are not alone necessarily in this issue, that we

          7  are joined together in a major statewide issue and

          8  public infrastructure for children.

          9                 Pests and pesticides are in schools

         10  because schools are in bad shape. The way to get

         11  pests out of the building is to block their access

         12  to food, block their access to water, block their

         13  access to shelter. If they can't get in, they are

         14  not going to be there. If they are in there, we

         15  should all be using the least toxic pesticides

         16  possible to eliminate and eradicate the remaining

         17  that are left.

         18                 Part of the reason for this is

         19  because children are not just little adults,

         20  biologically speaking, and I think instinctively all

         21  of us as parents understand that children are not

         22  just little adults. In part, that is why we send

         23  them off to school, because we want them to grow up.

         24  But biologically they breathe more air per pound of

         25  body weight. They have less ability to identify

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            144

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  environmental hazards and less ability for their

          3  growing body systems to deal with them.

          4                 We also have an epidemic of asthma.

          5  If you look inside our guide, which I brought and

          6  distributed, on getting pests and pesticides out of

          7  schools, you will look that there is a real focus on

          8  building maintenance in here, and this is where your

          9  Committee can play an active role with the Board of

         10  Ed and with New York State for that matter, in

         11  improving infrastructure for children.

         12                 The custodians and cleaners have to

         13  be able to carry caulk guns. No pets should ever be

         14  in classrooms. Sticky traps are obviously being used

         15  in the kitchen and cafeteria programs, but what

         16  about the rest of the building?

         17                 We heard a lot of comments right now

         18  specifically about kitchen areas and food delivery

         19  systems and cafeteria floors, but what we didn't

         20  hear about are the rest of the buildings. And the

         21  pests, once they are in the buildings, can go

         22  anywhere and be anywhere. We need a broad-based

         23  inspection system that looks everywhere.

         24                 A related issue is pests and asthma.

         25  Animal dirt and debris, as well as cockroach
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          2  leavings can trigger asthma. Whether those leavings

          3  are part of dead animals or live animals.

          4                 Pesticides can also trigger those

          5  problems as well. That means that it is better not

          6  to let the pests in the building to begin with. So,

          7  we ask you to support several constructive actions.

          8  One is enhance school inspections by the Department

          9  of Health. We need to know who is inspecting the

         10  entirety of the building and on what frequency and

         11  if there is advance notice of that inspection.

         12                 Secondly, enhance the school

         13  principal's oversight of school preventive

         14  maintenance programs.

         15                 School preventive maintenance budgets

         16  need to be absolutely transparent. At a building

         17  level, we need to know how much money is being spent

         18  to carry out what kinds of tests to keep buildings

         19  clean and safe for children.

         20                 We also need more minor maintenance

         21  and repair funds. New York State has a program

         22  called minor maintenance and repair but it has not

         23  nearly enough money to go around. New York City

         24  needs more, upstate districts need more.

         25                 We would urge your support for more
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          2  state minor maintenance and repair funds for the

          3  City for school facilities, but specifically the

          4  support that would allow for adequate cleaning

          5  staff, as long as these new funds are absolutely

          6  tied to the kinds of basic public health programs

          7  you are talking about today. We need money tied to

          8  results, public health results for children.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just say,

         11  because I must be honest and candid with you, that

         12  if I waited for the state to give us that

         13  maintenance money, he would be in trouble. And I

         14  must tell you that this Council, many years ago

         15  before this Chancellor, actually created a

         16  maintenance program that the Council funded to deal

         17  with and not wait for the state, and I must tell you

         18  that I am not going to wait for the state.

         19                 Let me also say, with all due

         20  respect, and this Committee takes its job seriously,

         21  and what you have mentioned in this overall,

         22  unfortunately there are many layers that are not

         23  necessarily this Committee, although people try to

         24  tie it through the Health Committee, and I will tell

         25  you like I told the Chancellor, my biggest
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          2  frustration is the lack of communication.

          3                 Let me say that from day one, this

          4  City and this Council did not wait upon the State of

          5  New York to decide how they were going to spend

          6  their tobacco settlement money, and whatever, of

          7  course we want more money, but whatever that capital

          8  budget was, was because this Council and the

          9  Administration took tobacco settlement money and

         10  added it and now there is a $6.5 million capital

         11  budget that if it were not because of that they

         12  wouldn't even have a capital budget, and of course

         13  we want money. But I want to be clear, because I

         14  don't want to have people get the impression that

         15  all of a sudden the City Council pushes a button,

         16  because we are the creatures of the state, and if we

         17  got our fair share of state dollars in terms of

         18  education, maybe all -- and then I am willing to tie

         19  anything to it, but you know, when we get mandates

         20  from the state and there is no money attached to it

         21  and then we have to implement it, I must tell you it

         22  becomes awfully hard. And I think that the focus on

         23  the state level should be, one, I know what we are

         24  going to do with our surplus. We dealt with that in

         25  our budget. I know what we are doing with the
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          2  tobacco settlement, and I repeat, of the $6.5

          3  million capital budget, a good portion of that is

          4  tobacco settlement, I went crazy with this Committee

          5  because not one cent was being spent for health

          6  issues, but rather fixing schools, like you

          7  mentioned.

          8                 And in addition, this Committee and

          9  this Council appropriated in this budget $30 million

         10  of the tobacco settlement money for health issues,

         11  of which $17 million was either to restore or to

         12  enhance things like inspectors, things like asthma,

         13  but there is also a $13 million appropriation that

         14  we are now negotiating to address the uninsured,

         15  which is over 30 percent plus. So I just want to be

         16  clear because my frustration is that sometimes

         17  things sound good, and I must tell you, I am not

         18  convinced the state has a commitment to deal with

         19  health issues.

         20                 MS. BARNETT: I agree with you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Maybe with this

         22  new Commissioner, who, by the way, happens to be

         23  born from the home town that I come from in Fajardo,

         24  Puerto Rico, and maybe she is going to fool (sic)

         25  like she did with this Administration trying to do
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          2  homeless families in North Central. So, I look

          3  forward to working with the state, but I must tell

          4  you, after six years in the State Assembly myself,

          5  and then I came down here, I am not impressed with

          6  the state operation and the state legislature, and

          7  so I assure you that this Committee and this Council

          8  will continue because health issues is a priority

          9  for us.

         10                 But I really thank you for taking the

         11  time, and I must say that any recommendations or

         12  anything that you would like as a state advocacy

         13  group that is pending in Albany, we are prepared to

         14  join in resolution supporting whatever endeavors,

         15  but I must tell you that I think we have to improve

         16  communications.

         17                 Many of us are willing to deal with

         18  these issues locally, not with the state. I don't

         19  need to look at a press, at a paper, to be told that

         20  there are violations. There are mechanisms within

         21  the schools, parents, teachers, supervisors, and I

         22  hope that we now from this hearing, which I want to

         23  be consistent. Not only was I consistent with the

         24  Commissioner, I was consistent with --

         25                 MS. BARNETT: The Healthy Schools
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          2  Network sponsors the New York City Healthy Schools

          3  Working Group. It was our organization in

          4  collaboration with Advocates of Children that put

          5  out a report about two weeks ago based on

          6  environmental health and safety conditions affecting

          7  children.

          8                 You are absolutely right, there are a

          9  lot of things districts can do on their own.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I commend you. I

         11  think something, that I think everyone who is really

         12  trying to deal with issues with the Board of

         13  Education, I think where we should make a priority

         14  is that the squeaky wheel gets the oil, that

         15  communications and talking to each other is very

         16  important. The legislative bodies are creatures of

         17  where the votes come from. And so, if enough people

         18  scream, I will tell you that Council Member Julia

         19  Harrison shouldn't be asking those questions,

         20  because she would automatically be the most

         21  aggressive person making sure that in her district

         22  money is put into the budget. Unfortunately, I don't

         23  know how we can do that in terms of what we are

         24  doing now.

         25                 But, again, I commend you for the
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          2  work you are doing. I hope this is not a beginning

          3  and an ending, but a beginning to work together and

          4  I look forward to an ongoing dialogue.

          5                 So, thank you, again.

          6                 MS. BARNETT: Thank you. We look

          7  forward too, there is a lot of work to do.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: John Bulger and

         10  Howard Bowser.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What I am going

         12  to do, and I hope that you, since I took up what you

         13  gave me, sir, and I will get a direct firsthand

         14  answer to your questions, why don't we just wait

         15  until the Chancellor does that, but go ahead, sir,

         16  and testify.

         17                 MR. BULGER: First of all, I want to

         18  thank you for having this hearing, and I don't know

         19  if you remember me from the Greenpoint Hospital

         20  Board?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I also

         22  remember that you communicate, I must give you

         23  credit for your communication.

         24                 MR. BULGER: Well, there are a few

         25  people more worthy to be here than myself, because I
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          2  am a founding member of the Greenpoint Volunteer

          3  Ambulance Corps.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          5                 MR. BULGER: I was on the Greenpoint

          6  Hospital Board for four years. We planned for

          7  Woodhull Hospital. Maybe you remember the time when

          8  they had the plan, when they put the parking lot on

          9  the third floor, we made them put the heat in the

         10  ramp because when they park, how were they going to

         11  get up in the wintertime. In the meantime, we had to

         12  make changes in design because the Woodhull Hospital

         13  Plan is from California where they don't have ice,

         14  and they also wanted to have packages who, instead

         15  of kitchens, I think you may have been responsible

         16  for that.

         17                 Now, to get back to the tax. I was a

         18  custodian engineer for 29 and a half years, and I

         19  lost my job -- well, I retired, I did retirement

         20  because of this, the New York City Employment

         21  Suggestion, of which you are all a part, and it is a

         22  total miserable failure. The city employees have no

         23  input whatever, there is no reward for them out of a

         24  32 billion operation. This is number about 1,350

         25  that I have given out in the past 13 years. I used
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          2  to attend Council meetings four or five years ago.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Mr. Bulger, can

          4  we stick to the issue at hand, not suggestions,

          5  please.

          6                 MR. BULGER: Now on to schools. I am

          7  not protected, that is important to you in this, is

          8  on pest control I put a suggestion in that the

          9  custodians apply the pesticides in schools. It only

         10  takes 15 hours of in-service training, and you can

         11  fumigate and pest control a building any time you

         12  want, on weekends, at night, like all of you members

         13  suggested, that is the time you can clean them.

         14                 And the Board of Ed just spent $6

         15  million for the Urban League to teach the parents to

         16  be teachers and to teach the parents to be parents

         17  for the PTAs, $6 million. One million dollars of

         18  that, they could pest control the school with the

         19  custodian. And who would be responsible? The

         20  custodian in the building. My building never had a

         21  violation because I used to apply the pesticides

         22  because I had a pest control permit. I almost got my

         23  rear-end in a sling because I was buying pest

         24  control -- you are not allowed to buy pest control

         25  chemicals in the Board of Education. If you put them
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          2  on your expense sheet, they will disallow it. I beat

          3  them because I had the applicator's license.

          4                 You could put a simple stroke of the

          5  pen that all custodians, all building managers, all

          6  housing projects, the building managers,

          7  superintendent, the custodian is responsible for

          8  pest control in a building. One man, and also the

          9  superintendent, or the principal in the schools. It

         10  takes two to operate a school - the custodian for

         11  the operation of the building, and the principal to

         12  control the teachers.

         13                 The biggest problem we have in the

         14  school is poor discipline where the kids throw the

         15  food around and the kitchen help cannot

         16  satisfactorily clean the kitchen or clean the

         17  lunchroom in time for the next year. It is usually

         18  two or three shifts for lunchrooms.

         19                 If the food is thrown around, there

         20  is no monitoring -- I am talking from life

         21  experience -- in my building, the old Stuyvesant

         22  building, one schools or three schools in the

         23  building, imagine three schools instead of one, the

         24  smallest school, 320 students, were the wreckers of

         25  the building. There are around 150 new high schools,
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          2  environmental studies, music, arts, sciences and all

          3  this other, these schools have students in them who

          4  did not hack the regular curriculum, so therefore

          5  they got a good school. It is a good idea, something

          6  the kids like, maybe they will do better. In the

          7  meantime, no discipline during the lunch periods,

          8  the food is thrown around, the other kids come in.

          9  That is why the kitchen help tries to do their best.

         10  They have one man up there doing two cafeterias, and

         11  he couldn't keep up with the dirt. More dirt was

         12  swept off the floor than was thrown into the waste.

         13                 This is supervision. The custodial

         14  help, two men, one man up on the floor, trying to

         15  keep up with the dirt. Half the teachers did not

         16  come down to monitor the rooms, and nothing was done

         17  about it.

         18                 The problem, as you said, is

         19  communication. The problem of communication is

         20  between the custodial force and the principal and

         21  the superintendent and above all the chancellor.

         22                 I attend all of the public meetings

         23  of the Board of Education. This Thursday I will

         24  attend the Education Committee of the New York City

         25  Council.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            156

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 This package has only got one or two

          3  items --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me suggest

          5  that that is the Committee where you should be

          6  addressing those issues, and I will tell you why.

          7  This hearing is about the Health Code and Violations

          8  of which it is not the Board of Education. Let me be

          9  clear. It is the Commissioner of Health. That is why

         10  he led off.

         11                 MR. BULGER: That is exactly right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I am focusing

         13  on the jurisdiction that this Committee has. All the

         14  other things, for example, custodians, that is not

         15  under the jurisdiction of this Committee.

         16                 MR. BULGER: But they wouldn't have

         17  the violations --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Excuse me.

         19                 Let's start again. This hearing dealt

         20  with the proper agency. I suggest since you are

         21  going to visit on Thursday, I am saying that those

         22  issues you are raising, just like you are doing

         23  today, should be raised in the Education Committee,

         24  because you are talking about personnel. You are not

         25  talking about violations.
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          2                 MR. BULGER: That's right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You need

          4  personnel to prevent the violations. But they are

          5  not hired by the Department of Health, they are

          6  hired by the Board of Education.

          7                 So, may I suggest that these kind of

          8  issues be brought up in the Committee on Education

          9  when it comes to personnel, which really is what

         10  deals with the Board of Education and its personnel.

         11                 Having said that, go ahead, sir.

         12                 MR. BULGER: All right.

         13                 Now, the chief reason I am here is

         14  because the lack of communication between you and

         15  all of the legislative officials and elected

         16  officials of the City and the employees of the City,

         17  220,000.

         18                 Do you know how many ideas that are

         19  out there would save millions of dollars, literally?

         20  There is nothing small in the Board of Education.

         21  You save $10 a building, you are saving $11,000.

         22  There is nothing small in the City.

         23                 And the toggle war, listen to this,

         24  is $1,000 to $1,500, that is not even one month's

         25  pay for -- and this is City Council business --
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          2  bring it up to snuff and you will save more money

          3  than you ever imagined. Who knows where the bodies

          4  are buried, and I am trying to bring out that is why

          5  I am here. Because you, who helped out with the

          6  Greenpoint Hospital, you are a good legislator.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But those were

          8  health issues, sir. Please. Look. I am letting you

          9  speak, but let me be clear. I am not going to take

         10  the responsibility of another Committee who really

         11  deals with the Board of Education.

         12                 My hearing and the Health Committee

         13  was because there were reports of violations, not

         14  issued by the Board of Education but by the Health

         15  Department. So, I again urge you -- you know, it is

         16  like when you wrote to me last time and you were

         17  gracious enough to write back saying of all of the

         18  Council people you wrote, I was the only one

         19  responding.

         20                 MR. BULGER: That's true.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fine. But you are

         22  not going to use me. So, I repeat, next Thursday

         23  when you go to the Committee on Education, bring

         24  those issues up because that is where you are going

         25  to get a resolution, not here.
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          2                 MR. BULGER: Right. But there is

          3  health items in here.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am getting you

          5  an answer. You see, I beat you to your own

          6  questioning.

          7                 MR. BULGER: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am going to get

          9  your answer from the Chancellor before I respond to

         10  you. That is the most I can do.

         11                 MR. BULGER: And believe it or not I

         12  go there every meeting. Tomorrow night is a meeting

         13  of the Board of Ed and I will be there, and I never

         14  get a reply.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You are going to

         16  get a reply from the Chancellor, from me, because

         17  you gave it to me and that is as far as I am going.

         18                 MR. BULGER: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Oh, you are quite

         20  welcome, sir.

         21                 MR. BULGER: This belongs to one of

         22  your members.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You keep it. No,

         24  no, that's okay. But I am not in charge of my

         25  member. You can give it to them yourself.
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          2                 MR. BULGER: Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

          4                 MR. BULGER: And, again, I want to

          5  thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You are quite

          7  welcome.

          8                 MR. BULGER: Fifty-one Council

          9  members, you are the only one, out of 1,100 or

         10  1,300, or whatever the hell the number is, I have

         11  got replies from less than 50 people in the last 13

         12  years.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And you are going

         14  to get a second reply on that package that you gave

         15  me which is health related.

         16                 MR. BULGER: Oh, undoubtedly. You have

         17  clout. And again, I thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You are quite

         19  welcome.

         20                 MR. BULGER: Because you are one of

         21  the best ones, and we go back a way back.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes. Thank you, I

         23  appreciate that. Thank you very much.

         24                 Sir.

         25                 MR. BOWSER: My name is Howard Bowser,
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          2  and I am going to speak directly on the issue and

          3  concerning the health problems of the Board of Ed. I

          4  worked in old Stuyvesant, and I am speaking on about

          5  half of the custodial engineers which are not

          6  working there anymore right now. But with regard to

          7  the health problem, I am sort of offended because

          8  you are smiling --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am not smiling

         10  at you, sir. If I sat here and had an ugly face --

         11                 MR. BOWSER: I am serious about what I

         12  am saying.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Go ahead.

         14                 MR. BOWSER: To come down to the

         15  health issues about the cafeteria, the kitchen, the

         16  dietician, the cook, the rodents, the mice, the

         17  roaches, all that type of stuff, I was a cleaner

         18  there and I went out of my way to make sure the

         19  cafeteria was clean. We got unruly kids there, not

         20  all, some, maybe two or three out of the bunch, we

         21  clean up the cafeteria the best that we know how. My

         22  former boss used to have me to go around and set

         23  mice traps, make sure that all milk is taken up off

         24  the floors, like spilled milk and so forth and so

         25  forth. He had me do that. If the custodian engineer

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            162

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  don't have the authority or the means of doing that,

          3  then the cafeteria will not be clean. The next day

          4  you will come in and see milk on the floor, that

          5  calls for roaches, mice and everything else. You can

          6  clean the floor up real good, but the food scent is

          7  still there and that is where you get your rodents.

          8                 If you can sanitize the building

          9  during after school is out, and you can have the

         10  custodian staff scrub the floors, sanitize the

         11  floors, they will cut down a lot of the rodents,

         12  mice and everything else, because you are not going

         13  to get rid of them.

         14                 And as far as the garbage is

         15  concerned, my boss didn't get his justice due, I

         16  didn't get my justice due, but I am not going to

         17  speak on that. So, this is what I wanted to say, and

         18  on behalf of Mr. John T. Bulger and from myself,

         19  because I was the guy that was doing the work there.

         20                 I thank you. I hope I made a little

         21  sense to you all.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you, sir,

         23  for taking the time to join us and testify. And I

         24  assure you that whatever you said, we will look into

         25  it and consider it, understanding when it comes to,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            163

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  and I want to be clear, the custodian, that gets

          3  dealt with in another Committee, but I will make

          4  sure that my colleague hears what you said to us.

          5                 MR. BOWSER: Yes, because I never

          6  heard nobody speak about the custodian engineer, and

          7  I never heard no words about the custodian workers.

          8  Everything is about the Chancellor, the

          9  Administrator, but we are left out of the whole

         10  picture. And we are the ones that are doing the

         11  work.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me be clear,

         13  in this hearing I believe I have not heard not one

         14  of us either single out a principal, I try to at

         15  least deal with the Commissioner of the agency and

         16  the Chancellor who is responsible. They are

         17  responsible for the personnel within their

         18  respective agencies.

         19                 MR. BOWSER: Right. But --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I want to be

         21  clear, I heard what you said.

         22                 MR. BOWSER: All right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We will look at

         24  it.

         25                 MR. BOWSER: Because everything that
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          2  it comes to, I got two more words and then I am

          3  through with it, everything that comes through these

          4  schools comes through the custodian engineer. The

          5  bottom line is, everything boils down to him. If it

          6  doesn't get done, it comes back to the custodian

          7  engineer, where he gets a good rating or a bad

          8  rating. And this man, he got a bad rating and it

          9  makes me look like I didn't do my job. That's all I

         10  have to say.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         12  much for coming out today.

         13                 MR. BOWSER: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You are welcome.

         15                 I guess I want to close these

         16  hearings, but clearly closing it doesn't mean that

         17  this issue is going to die. I want to again commend

         18  those news media, particularly the New York Post,

         19  New York 1, Daily News, Newsday, who at least was

         20  bold enough to write about it. Whether people say

         21  they are right or wrong, I commend you for that and

         22  I again say that when things that should happen are

         23  not happening, particularly within health areas,

         24  this Chair and this Committee takes it seriously and

         25  we will pursue it.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            165

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 So, seeing no other business before

          3  us, I close this hearing.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 12:35 p.m.)
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